UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM	8-K
-------------	-----

CURRENT REPORT
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

October 23, 2015

Date of report (date of earliest event reported)

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State of Incorporation)

001-34033 (Commission file number) 41-1532464 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

11001 Bren Road East, Minnetonka, Minnesota (Address of principal executive offices)

55343 (Zip Code)

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} (952) \ 912-3444 \\ (Registrant's telephone number, including area code) \end{tabular}$

ollo	Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the wing provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):
	Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
	Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Item 1.01 Entry into Material Definitive Agreement.

On October 23, 2015, Digi International Inc. ("Digi") entered into a stock purchase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with West Monroe Partners, LLC (the "Buyer"), pursuant to which the Buyer acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Digi's wholly owned subsidiary, Etherios, Inc. ("Etherios"), for a purchase price of \$9 million in cash, subject to customary purchase price adjustments. Of the total purchase price, \$4 million, less certain transaction costs of approximately \$1.1 million withheld for certain employee related liabilities, was paid to Digi at closing, \$3 million will be paid to Digi on October 23, 2016, and the remaining \$2 million will be paid to Digi on October 23, 2017.

The Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants by each of Digi and the Buyer, as well as customary indemnification provisions among the parties.

The Purchase Agreement has been included to provide information regarding its terms. It is not intended to modify or supplement any factual disclosures about Digi in any public reports filed or to be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") by Digi. In particular, the assertions embodied in the representations, warranties, and covenants contained in the Purchase Agreement were made only for purposes of the Purchase Agreement and as of specified dates, were solely for the benefit of the parties to the Purchase Agreement, and are subject to limitations agreed upon by the parties to the Purchase Agreement, including being qualified by confidential disclosure schedules provided by the parties in connection with the execution of the Purchase Agreement. These disclosure schedules contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the representations and warranties set forth in the Purchase Agreement. Moreover, certain representations and warranties in the Purchase Agreement have been made for the purposes of allocating risk between the parties to the Purchase Agreement instead of establishing matters of fact. Accordingly, the representations and warranties in the Purchase Agreement may not constitute the actual state of facts about Digi, Etherios or Etherios's business. The representations and warranties set forth in the Purchase Agreement may also be subject to a contractual standard of materiality different from that generally applicable under federal securities laws. Investors should not rely on the representations, warranties, or covenants or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or the actual condition of Digi or Etherios, any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates, or Etherios's business. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the date of the Purchase Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in Digi's public disclosures.

The foregoing description of the Purchase Agreement is not complete and is qualified by reference to the full text of the Purchase Agreement, which is attached as Exhibit 2.1 to this current report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

On October 23, 2015, the Company completed the sale of Etherios pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. The information in Item 1.01 above is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(b) Pro forma financial information.

99.1 Unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information

(d) Exhibits.

- 2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 23, 2015*
- * Certain schedules and exhibits have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned duly authorized.

Date: October 29, 2015

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC.

By: /s/ David H. Sampsell

David H. Sampsell

Vice President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	<u>Description</u>	Manner of Filing
2.1	Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 23, 2015	Filed Electronically
99.1	Unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information	Filed Electronically

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

between

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC.

and

WEST MONROE PARTNERS, LLC

Dated as of October 23, 2015

Table of Contents

		rage
ARTICLE 1	PURCHASE OF SHARES AND PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE	1
1.1	Share Purchase	1
1.2	Closing	1
1.3	Purchase Price	1
1.4	Payment of Purchase Price	1
1.5	Closing Deliverables	2
1.6	Working Capital Adjustments	3
ARTICLE 2	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REGARDING THE COMPANY AND SELLER	5
2.1	Organization	5
2.2	Capitalization	6
2.3	Subsidiaries	6
2.4	Authorization and Execution	6
2.5	Non-Contravention	6
2.6	Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities	7
2.7	Personal Property	8
2.8	Compliance with Laws; Permits	8
2.9	Litigation	9
2.10	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	9
2.11	Taxes	10
2.12	Material Contracts	12
2.13	Employment	14
2.14	Employee Benefits	15
2.15	Intellectual Property	17
2.16	Labor Disputes	19
2.17	Finders or Investment Bankers	19
2.18	Insurance	19
2.19	Real Estate	19
2.20	Powers of Attorney	20
2.21	Transactions with Affiliates, Seller, and Others	20
2.22	Environmental Matters	20
2.23 2.24	Material Customers and Suppliers	21 21
2.24	Privacy and Security Bank Accounts	21
2.25	Warranties	21
2.20	No Additional Representations	21
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	22
3.1	Corporate Organization	22
3.2	Authorization and Execution	22
3.3	Non-Contravention	22
3.4	Pending Actions	23
3.5	Finders or Investment Bankers	23
	COVENANTS	23
4.1	Non-Interference	23
4.1	INVII-TIMET IELEHUU	23

4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	Tax Matters Non-Competition Waiver, Release and Discharge Agreement Not to Pursue Post-Closing Deliveries of Buyer Transfer of Company Payments	23 25 27 28 28 28			
4.8	Insurance Coverage	28			
4.9 4.10	Agreement Not to Use Employee Payments	29 29			
ARTICLE 5 II	NDEMNIFICATION	29			
5.1	Survival of Representations and Warranties	29			
5.2	Indemnity	29			
5.3	Limitations	30			
5.4	Indemnification Procedures	31			
5.5	Remedies	33			
5.6	Payment Payment	33			
5.7 5.8	Purchase Price Adjustment	33			
5.8 5.9	Set-Off Rights Disclaimers Contain Waisons	33 34			
	Disclaimer; Certain Waivers	34			
ARTICLE 6 M	ARTICLE 6 MISCELLANEOUS 34				
6.1	Amendment and Modification	34			
6.2	Waivers and Consents	34			
6.3	Press Releases and Public Announcements	34			
6.4	Notices	35			
6.5	Assignment; Third-Party Beneficiaries	35			
6.6	Rules of Interpretation	36			
6.7	Governing Law; Venue	36			
6.8	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	37			
6.9	Counterparts	37			
6.10	Headings; Internal References	37			
6.11	Entire Agreement	37			
6.12	Severability The state of the s	37			
6.13	Equitable Remedies	37			
6.14	Expenses Piology Letters	37			
6.15	Disclosure Letter	37			
6.16	Further Assurances	38			
ARTICLE 7 C	ARTICLE 7 CERTAIN DEFINITIONS				

Exhibits A

7.1

A Transition Services Agreement

Certain Definitions

38

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Stock Purchase Agreement (this "**Agreement**"), dated as of October 23, 2015, is made between Digi International Inc., a Delaware corporation ("**Seller**"), and West Monroe Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("**Buyer**").

RECITALS

- A. Seller owns all of the outstanding shares of capital stock (the "Shares") of Etherios, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company").
- B. Seller desires to sell, assign and transfer to Buyer, and Buyer desires to purchase from Seller, all of the Shares, upon and subject to the terms herein.
- C. Reference is made to Section 7.1 hereof, which sets forth definitions for certain terms used in this Agreement.

AGREEMENT

Now, therefore, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 PURCHASE OF SHARES AND PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE

- **1.1** Share Purchase. Upon and subject to the terms herein, at Closing, Seller will sell, assign, transfer and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer will purchase from Seller, all right, title and interest in the Shares, free and clear of any and all Liens.
- **1.2** <u>Closing</u>. The closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the "Closing") will take place on the date hereof ("Closing Date"). The Closing will take place at the offices of Faegre Baker Daniels LLP, 90 South Seventh Street, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402, or by electronic mail and/or overnight courier service. The Closing will be effective as of the Effective Time.
- **1.3** <u>Purchase Price</u>. Upon and subject to the terms herein, the aggregate purchase price for the Shares and the rights and benefits conferred herein, including Seller's covenants in <u>Section 4.3</u> (the "**Purchase Price**"), shall be an amount equal to (a) \$9,000,000 (the "**Base Amount**"), <u>plus</u> (b) the amount (if any) by which Final Working Capital exceeds the Working Capital Target (unless such excess is less than \$50,000 in which case there shall be no increase to the Purchase Price pursuant to this clause (b)), <u>minus</u> (c) the amount (if any) by which the Working Capital Target exceeds the Final Working Capital (unless such excess is less than \$50,000 in which case there shall be no reduction of the Purchase Price pursuant to this clause (c)), <u>plus</u> (d) the amount of Final Cash.
 - 1.4 Payment of Purchase Price. Upon and subject to the terms herein, Buyer will pay the Purchase Price as follows:
- (a) At the Closing and on the Closing Date, Buyer will pay to Seller an amount equal to (a) the Base Amount, <u>plus</u> or <u>minus</u> (as applicable) (b) the Closing Adjustment Amount, <u>minus</u> (c) the Estimated Indebtedness, <u>minus</u> (d) the amount of Estimated Transaction Expenses, <u>plus</u> (e) the amount of Estimated Cash, <u>minus</u> (f) the First Anniversary Payment, <u>minus</u> (g) the Second Anniversary Payment (with the result of (a) through (g) being referred to herein as the "Closing Purchase Price"), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account that Seller designates in writing at least two Business Days before the Closing Date.

- (b) No later than the first anniversary of the Closing Date, Buyer will pay to Seller an amount equal to \$3,000,000 (the "First Anniversary Payment"), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account that Seller designates in writing at least two Business Days before the first anniversary of the Closing Date.
- (c) No later than the second anniversary of the Closing Date, Buyer will pay to Seller an amount equal to \$2,000,000 (the "Second Anniversary Payment"), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account that Seller designates in writing at least two Business Days before the second anniversary of the Closing Date.

1.5 Closing Deliverables.

- (a) At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Seller the following:
- (i) an executed counterpart of the License Agreement;
- (ii) an executed counterpart of the Transition Services Agreement;
- (iii) a certificate, dated the Closing Date, executed by the secretary of Buyer, certifying as of the Closing Date a true and complete copy of the resolutions of Buyer's board of managers authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; and
 - (iv) the Closing Purchase Price pursuant to Section 1.4(a).
 - (b) At the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer the following:
 - (i) an executed counterpart of the License Agreement;
- (ii) a fully executed copy of that certain Omnibus Assignment of Intellectual Property between Seller and the Company, dated as of the date immediately prior to the Closing Date;
 - (iii) an executed counterpart of the Transition Services Agreement;
- (iv) a certificate, dated the Closing Date, executed by the secretary of the Seller, certifying as of the Closing Date (a) true and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or other organizational documents, as applicable) of the Company, and (b) a true and complete copy of the resolutions of Seller's board of directors authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby;
- (v) a certificate of good standing for the Company from the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and each other jurisdiction where the Company is qualified to do business, in each case dated not more than ten (10) days prior to the Closing Date;

- (vi) a certificate, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and duly executed, certifying any facts that would exempt the transactions contemplated hereby from withholding under Section 1445 of the Code;
- (vii) all stock certificates representing the Shares, each duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by an assignment separate from certificate, dated the Closing Date and executed by Seller, in a form suitable for transferring the Shares to Buyer in the records of the Company;
 - (viii) the consents set forth on Schedule 1.5(b)(viii);
- (ix) a non-cancelable run-off insurance policy for Global Technology Errors and Omissions, Data Privacy Protection and Communications Liability for a period of five (5) years after the Closing Date to provide insurance coverage for events, acts or omissions occurring on or prior to the Closing Date for the Company (the "<u>Tail Policy</u>");
 - (x) resignations of the officers and directors of the Company, effective as of the Closing;
- (xi) executed copies of payoff letters for each instrument of Indebtedness from the obligees thereunder setting forth the amounts necessary to pay off all Indebtedness under such instrument as of the Closing Date and evidence reasonably satisfactory to Buyer of the release of all Liens held by such parties against the property of the Company; and
 - (xii) any equity record book, minute book, equity ledgers and any comparable records of the Company.

1.6 Working Capital Adjustments.

- (a) Seller has delivered to Buyer an estimated balance sheet of the Company prepared as of the Effective Time (the "Closing Balance Sheet"), which sets forth a good faith estimate of the amount of (i) Working Capital ("Estimated Working Capital"), (ii) Cash ("Estimated Cash"), (iii) Indebtedness ("Estimated Indebtedness") and (iv) Transaction Expenses ("Estimated Transaction Expenses"), in each case as of the Effective Time (which shall be estimated prior to the application of any payments to be made under Section 1.4). The Closing Balance Sheet has been prepared by Seller in accordance with GAAP;
- (b) If the Estimated Working Capital is less than (i) the Working Capital Target minus (ii) Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000), then the Closing Purchase Price shall be reduced by the full amount by which the Working Capital Target exceeds the Estimated Working Capital;
- (c) If the Estimated Working Capital is greater than (i) the Working Capital Target plus (ii) Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000), then the Closing Purchase Price shall be increased by the full amount by which the Estimated Working Capital exceeds the Working Capital Target; and
 - (d) Any adjustment pursuant to Sections 1.6(b) or 1.6(c), as the case may be, shall be the "Closing Adjustment Amount."
- (e) Within 90 days after the Closing Date, Buyer will prepare and deliver to Seller a balance sheet of the Company prepared as of the Effective Time (the "Final Balance Sheet"), which will set forth the amounts of (i)Working Capital ("Closing Working Capital"), (ii) Cash ("Closing Cash"), (iii) Indebtedness ("Closing Indebtedness") and (iv) Transaction Expenses ("Closing Transaction

Expenses"), in each case as of the Effective Time (which shall be calculated prior to the application of any payments to be made under Section 1.4). The Final Balance Sheet will be prepared in accordance with GAAP. Following the delivery of the Final Balance Sheet to Seller, Buyer will and will cause the Company to afford Seller and its representatives the opportunity to examine the Final Balance Sheet, and such supporting schedules, analyses, workpapers and other underlying records or documentation as are reasonably necessary and appropriate. Buyer will and will cause the Company to cooperate reasonably and promptly with Seller and its representatives in such examination, including providing answers to questions asked by Seller and its representatives, and Buyer will and will cause the Company to promptly make available to Seller and its representatives any records under Buyer's or the Company's reasonable control that are related to such examination and reasonably requested by Seller and its representatives.

(f) If within 30 days following delivery of the Final Balance Sheet to Seller, Seller has not delivered to Buyer written notice (the "Objection Notice") of its objections to the Final Balance Sheet (such Objection Notice must contain a statement describing in reasonable detail the basis of such objections), then Closing Working Capital, Closing Cash, Closing Indebtedness and Closing Transaction Expenses as set forth in such Final Balance Sheet will be deemed final and conclusive and will be "Final Working Capital," "Final Cash," "Final Indebtedness," and "Final Transaction Expenses," respectively. The sole permissible grounds for objection shall be that the determination of Closing Working Capital, Closing Cash, Closing Indebtedness and/or Closing Transaction Expenses was not in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including the definition(s) thereof. If Seller delivers the Objection Notice within such 30-day period, then Buyer and Seller will endeavor in good faith to resolve the objections, for a period not to exceed 30 days from the date of delivery of the Objection Notice. If at the end of the 30-day period there are any objections identified in the Objection Notice that remain in dispute, then either Buyer or Seller may submit such dispute for resolution to the Referee. The parties will instruct the Referee to determine Final Working Capital, Final Cash, Final Indebtedness and Final Transaction Expenses, as applicable, within 30 days after the objections identified in the Objection Notice that remain in dispute are submitted to it. If any remaining objections are submitted to the Referee for resolution, (i) Buyer and Seller will enter into a customary engagement letter with the Referee; (ii) each such party will furnish to the Referee such workpapers and other documents and information relating to such objections as the Referee may reasonably request and are available to that party (or its independent public accountants) and will be afforded the opportunity to present to the Referee any material relating to the determination of the matters in dispute and to discuss such determination with the Referee; provided that all ex parte communications by the parties or their representatives with the Referee will be prohibited; (iii) to the extent that a value has been assigned to any objection that remains in dispute, the Referee will not assign a value to such objection that is greater than the greatest value for such objection claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such objection claimed by either party; (iv) the determination by the Referee of Final Working Capital, Final Cash, Final Indebtedness or Final Transaction Expenses, as applicable, as set forth in a written notice delivered to both parties by the Referee, will be made in accordance with this Agreement and will be binding and conclusive on the parties and will constitute an arbitral award that is final, binding and unappealable and upon which a judgment may be entered by a court having jurisdiction thereof; and (v) fees and expenses of the Referee shall be borne by Seller, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, in such proportion that reflects the relative benefits received by Seller and Buyer from the resolution of the dispute. For example, if Seller challenges an item by an amount of \$100,000 but the Referee determines that Seller has a valid claim for only \$40,000, Buyer shall bear 40% of the fees and expenses of the Referee and the Seller shall bear the other 60% of such fees and expenses.

(g) The Closing Purchase Price will be adjusted to be: (i) reduced by the amount, if any, to which: (A) the Final Working Capital is less than the Estimated Working Capital, subject to Section 1.6(k), (B) the Final Indebtedness exceeds the Estimated Indebtedness, (C) the Final Transaction Expenses exceeds the Estimated Transaction Expenses, and (D) the Final Cash is less than the Estimated

Cash; and (ii) increased by the amount, if any, to which: (A) the Final Working Capital is greater than the Estimated Working Capital, subject to Section 1.6(k), (B) the Final Indebtedness is less than the Estimated Indebtedness, (C) the Final Transaction Expenses are less than the Estimated Transaction Expenses and (D) the Final Cash exceeds the Estimated Cash.

- (h) Any adjustment pursuant to Section 1.6(g) shall be the "Final Adjustment Amount".
- (i) If the Final Adjustment Amount results in a net decrease to the Closing Purchase Price, then Seller will pay to Buyer an amount equal to the Final Adjustment Amount.
- (j) If the Final Adjustment Amount results in a net increase to the Closing Purchase Price, then Buyer will pay to Seller an amount in cash equal to the Final Adjustment Amount.
- (k) The determination of the Final Adjustment Amount pursuant to $\underline{Section \ 1.6(g)}$ shall be recalculated pursuant to the provisions in $\underline{Sections} \ \underline{1.6(b)}$ and $\underline{1.6(c)}$ using the Final Working Capital rather than the Estimated Working Capital, and if the result thereof differs from the calculation based on Estimated Working Capital, the Final Adjustment Amount shall be increased or decreased, as appropriate (taking into account the amount that was paid or received at Closing pursuant to $\underline{Sections \ 1.6(b)}$ and $\underline{1.6(c)}$), to reflect the calculation of the Closing Purchase Price that would have occurred if the Final Working Capital had originally been used to calculate the Closing Adjustment Amount (and subject to the collar of \$50,000 described in $\underline{Sections \ 1.6(b)}$ and $\underline{1.6(c)}$).
- (l) All payments made to Buyer or Seller pursuant to this <u>Section 1.6</u> will be netted so that one payment will be made to Buyer or Seller, as applicable, and such payment will be paid within five Business Days after Final Working Capital, Final Cash, Final Indebtedness and Final Transaction Expenses become binding and conclusive on the parties and will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account or accounts as are designated by Buyer or Seller, as applicable, in writing within at least two Business Days after Final Working Capital, Final Cash, Final Indebtedness and Final Transaction Expenses become binding and conclusive on the parties.

ARTICLE 2 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REGARDING THE COMPANY AND SELLER

Except as otherwise set forth in the disclosure letter delivered by the Company to Buyer concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement (the "**Disclosure Letter**"), Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as follows:

2.1 Organization.

- (a) The Company and Seller are both corporations duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and each has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease, and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted.
- (b) The Company and Seller are both duly qualified or licensed to do business, and each is in good standing, in each jurisdiction in which the property owned, leased, or operated by it, or the nature of its business, makes such qualification or licensing necessary, with each such jurisdiction with respect to the Company being listed in Section 2.1 of the Disclosure Letter, except for such failures that, individually or in the aggregate, would not be material to the Company or Seller, as the case may be.
- (c) The Company has previously delivered to Buyer correct and complete copies of the Organizational Documents as in effect on the date of this Agreement. The Company is not in default under or in violation of any provision of its Organizational Documents.

2.2 Capitalization.

- (a) Seller is the beneficial and registered owner of the Shares, and has good and valid title to the Shares, free and clear of any Liens. The Shares constitute all of the outstanding capital stock of, or other equity or voting interests in, the Company. No shares of the Company's capital stock are held in treasury or are authorized or reserved for issuance. All of the Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable, and were not granted in violation of any preemptive rights or any federal and state securities laws.
- (b) Other than as set forth in Section 2.2 of the Disclosure Letter, there are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants, phantom stock, restricted stock shares, units, calls, rights or other Contracts under which the Company or any other Person is or may become obligated to issue, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, or purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any shares of capital stock in, or other equity or voting interests in, the Company, and there are no outstanding securities convertible into or exchangeable for any such capital stock, units or other equity or voting interests. No option or warrant with respect to the Company will exist or be in effect at or after the Effective Time and no amounts shall be owed to any Person after the Effective Time with respect to any such option or warrant.
- (c) Neither Seller nor the Company is a party to any voting trust agreement, proxy, or other Contract, including any such Contracts restricting or otherwise relating to voting, distribution rights or disposition of any shares of the Company's capital stock, other than pursuant to this Agreement.
- **2.3** <u>Subsidiaries</u>. The Company does not have any Subsidiaries or own or otherwise hold, directly or indirectly, any stock, membership interest, partnership interest, joint venture interest or other equity interest in any Person.
- 2.4 Authorization and Execution. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Seller and the execution, delivery and performance of each document to be executed and delivered by Seller and the Company pursuant hereto and the consummation by Seller and the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action with respect to Seller and the Company, as the case may be, and each such authorization and approval remains in full force and effect. Seller has all requisite power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver this Agreement and Seller and the Company each have all requisite power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver any other document delivered by Seller and the Company, as the case may be, pursuant hereto, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. No further corporate or other action of Seller or the Company is necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Seller and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller, enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity.
- **2.5 Non-Contravention.** Neither the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and any other document to be executed and delivered pursuant hereto by the Company and Seller nor the consummation by the Company and Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby will:
- (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Organizational Documents or the certificate of incorporation, bylaws and other organizational documents of Seller;

- (b) require Seller or the Company to obtain any consent, approval, authorization, or action of, or make any filing with or give any notice to (collectively, "Consents, Filings, and Notices") any Governmental Entity, except for the Consents, Filings, and Notices set forth in <u>Section 2.5(b)</u> of the Disclosure Letter;
- (c) violate, conflict with, or result in the breach of any of the terms of, accelerate, result in a modification of the effect of, constitute an impermissible assignment or change of control under, require the consent of or other action by any Person under, cause the termination of or give any other contracting party the right to terminate, require giving notice to any Person under, constitute a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation, or acceleration) under (with or without the passage of time), or create a penalty under, any provision of any Material Contract or any material note, bond, Contract or other instrument to which Seller is a party or is subject, except for the Consents, Filings and Notices set forth in Section 2.5(c) of the Disclosure Letter;
 - (d) violate any Order or any Legal Requirement applicable to Seller, the Company, or any of the assets of the Company; or
 - (e) result in the creation of any Lien on any assets of Seller or the Company.

2.6 Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities.

- (a) The unaudited balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2013 and as of December 31, 2014, and the related statements of income for the years then ended (the "**Previous Accounts**") are as set forth in <u>Section 2.6(a)(i)</u> of the Disclosure Letter. The Previous Accounts have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of September 30, 2015 and the related statement of income for the nine-month period then ended are as set forth in <u>Section 2.6(a)(ii)</u> of the Disclosure Letter. The Most Recent Financial Statements were properly prepared in accordance with GAAP, as modified or supplemented by the accounting principles and policies set forth on <u>Section 2.6(a)(iii)</u> of the Disclosure Letter, and subject to year-end adjustments that will not be material and the lack of footnotes thereto.
- (b) The financial statements described in <u>Section 2.6(a)</u> are collectively referred to as the "**Financial Statements**." The Financial Statements as of and for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2015 are referred to as the "**Most Recent Financial Statements**" and the balance sheet included therein is referred to as the "**Most Recent Balance Sheet**."
- (c) The Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at the respective dates thereof and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods indicated therein in accordance with GAAP, as modified or supplemented by the accounting principles and policies set forth on Section 2.6(a)(iii) of the Disclosure Letter.
- (d) All accounts receivable, notes receivable, and other receivables of the Company are reflected properly on its Books and Records and are valid receivables subject to no setoffs or counterclaims. The accounts payable and accruals of the Company have arisen in bona fide arm's-length transactions in the ordinary course of business, and the Company has been paying its accounts payable as and when due. There are no unpaid invoices or bills representing amounts alleged to be owed by the Company, or other alleged obligations of the Company, which the Company has disputed or determined to dispute or refuse to pay. The Books and Records have been kept in accordance with reasonable

business practices, have complied in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements, and reflect only actual transactions. True, correct and complete copies of the Books and Records have been made available to Buyer and its representatives.

- (e) The system of internal controls over financial reporting used by the Company is sufficient in all material respects to provide reasonable assurance (i) that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP, (ii) that receipts and expenditures are executed only in accordance with the authorization of management and (iii) regarding prevention or timely detection of the unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that would materially affect the Financial Statements.
- (f) Other than to the extent disclosed and accrued for in the Most Recent Financial Statements, the Company has no Liabilities except for:
 (i) Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of the Most Recent Financial Statements and that will be fully reflected in or reserved for in the Final Adjustment Amount and the calculation thereof; (ii) Liabilities identified in, or arising under, Contracts of the Company in the ordinary course of business (but not Liabilities for breaches by the Company or Seller, as the case may be); (iii) Liabilities that would not have been required to be disclosed in, provided for, reflected in, reserved against or otherwise described in the Financial Statements (including any notes thereto) in accordance with GAAP; and (iv) Liabilities resulting from pending, or (to the Company's Knowledge) threatened Legal Proceedings disclosed in Section 2.6(f) the Disclosure Letter.
- **2.7** Personal Property. The Company has good and valid title to, or a valid and binding leasehold or license interest in, and the right to use, all tangible personal property and assets used in the operation of its business, free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Liens. Each tangible asset of the Company is in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and is suitable for the purposes for which it is currently used. Except as set forth in Section 2.7 of the Disclosure Letter, the assets and properties that are owned or leased by the Company (a) constitute all the material assets and properties used or held for use in connection with or otherwise related to the business of the Company and (b) will permit the Company, and are sufficient to enable the Company, to substantially operate its business as currently conducted.

2.8 <u>Compliance with Legal Requirements; Permits</u>.

- (a) The Company is in material compliance, and for the last 5 years, has conducted its business in material compliance, with all applicable Legal Requirements and Orders, including any Legal Requirements and Orders relating to privacy or confidentiality of information collected or maintained from customers, employees and other Persons by the Company. To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company is not, and has not been, under investigation with respect to and has not been threatened in writing to be charged with or given notice of any violation or potential violation of, any Legal Requirement relating to the conduct of the Company's business, or under which any of the Company's material assets or properties are bound.
- (b) The Company has all Permits, and has made all required filings, applications and registrations with, any Governmental Entity that are necessary to own, lease and operate its properties and are material to the conduct of its business (collectively, "Material Permits"). All Material Permits are set forth in Section 2.8(b) of the Disclosure Letter and are in full force and effect, are being complied with, and no Legal Proceeding is pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, is threatened to revoke or limit any such Material Permit. All applications for or renewals of all such Material Permits have been timely filed and made.

2.9 <u>Litigation</u>. No Legal Proceeding is pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, threatened against the Company, or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or other representatives (in their capacities as such), or any of its assets, properties, or businesses. Since October 29, 2012, no Legal Proceedings have been commenced by, and no Legal Proceedings have been pending against, the Company, or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or other representatives (in their capacities as such), or any of its assets, properties, or businesses. Since October 29, 2012, the Company has not received any cease and desist letters requesting that the Company refrain from future breaches of any Person's rights. Neither the Company nor, to the Company's Knowledge, any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or other representatives (in their capacities as such) is subject to any Orders. Since October 29, 2012, the Company has not been subject to any Orders. Section 2.9 of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and correct list and description of all Legal Proceedings made, filed or otherwise initiated in connection with the Company (whether by or against the Company or any current or former officer, director, or employee of the Company (in their capacities as such)) and resolved in the past three years.

2.10 Absence of Certain Changes or Events.

- (a) Since December 31, 2014, the Company has conducted its business only in the ordinary course consistent with past practices, and there has not been any condition, circumstance, event, or occurrence that, individually or in the aggregate, has resulted or would be reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Without limiting the generality of Section 2.10(a) and, in each instance, excluding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, since December 31, 2014, the Company has not:
 - (i) created, incurred, assumed, or guaranteed any Indebtedness or become subject to any material Liabilities, other than Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
 - (ii) subjected any of its assets to any Lien, except Permitted Liens;
 - (iii) sold, assigned, or transferred any assets, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
 - (iv) suffered any extraordinary losses to its property, whether or not covered by insurance, forgiven or canceled any material claims, or waived any right of material value;
 - (v) increased, in any material respects, its total number of employees or the salaries, wages, bonuses or other compensation or benefits payable (including severance benefits), or to become payable, to any directors, officers, employees, agents, or representatives, except for increases to its officers and employees in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or as required under any existing employment agreement or applicable Legal Requirements;
 - (vi) suffered any work stoppage;
 - (vii) changed any of its accounting principles or the methods of applying such principles, other than changes required by GAAP or as disclosed in the Most Recent Financial Statements or Most Recent Balance Sheet;

- (viii) entered into any Contract with Seller, or any partner, member, owner or Affiliate of Seller;
- (ix) made any material change in the manner and timing of payment of trade and other payables;
- (x) amended its Organizational Documents;
- (xi) made or permitted to have occurred any material change in practices with respect to the collection of accounts receivable;
- (xii) incurred any capital expenditures in excess of \$25,000;
- (xiii) entered into, adopted, modified or terminated any Company Employee Plan;
- (xiv) authorized for issuance, issued, sold, pledged or delivered any equity interests or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for equity interests of the Company, or redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired any equity interests of the Company;
 - (xv) entered into, amended or modified any employment agreement that provides for annual compensation in excess of \$100,000;
 - (xvi) adopted a plan of liquidation, dissolution or reorganization;
 - (xvii) merged or consolidated with any Person or entered into any partnership, joint venture, association, or other business organization;
- (xviii) licensed, transferred, or assigned any Intellectual Property to any third party, or granted any covenant not to sue to any third party with respect to Intellectual Property, other than pursuant to Contracts with customers of the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice where only (a) non-exclusive object-code licenses to the software of the Company are granted to customers of the Company, or (b) custom implementation software developed by the Company for a customer, which software is not used by the Company for itself or any other Person, is assigned to such customer; or
 - (xix) other than this Agreement, entered into any Contract to do any of the foregoing.

2.11 Taxes.

- (a) All U.S. federal and state Income Tax and other material Tax Returns that were required to be filed by, on behalf of or with respect to the Company were timely and properly filed on or before the applicable due date (taking into account any extension of such due date) and were correct and complete in all material respects. All material Taxes owed by or with respect the Company with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period were paid when due, or, in the case of Taxes not yet due, will, in the case of Taxes first due on or before the Closing Date, be paid in full before the Closing Date or, in the case of Taxes first due after the Closing Date, are properly included in the Closing Balance Sheet.
- (b) No written claim has ever been made by an authority in a jurisdiction where the Company does not file any Tax Return that the Company is or may be subject to Taxation by such jurisdiction.

- (c) All material Taxes that the Company is or is required to withhold or collect in connection with any amount paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor or other third party have been duly withheld or collected and have been paid, to the extent required, to the proper Governmental Entity or other Person. All material Tax information reporting requirements of or with respect to the Company have been satisfied in full.
- (d) Since November 1, 2012, the Company has consistently treated any workers that it treats as independent contractors (and any similarly situated workers) as "independent contractors" for purposes of section 530 of the Revenue Act of 1978.
- (e) No Tax audit or other Tax proceeding is pending or being conducted or is, to the Company's Knowledge, threatened against or otherwise with respect to the Company.
- (f) The Company will not be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, Taxable income for any Taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any: (i) change in method of accounting for a Taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date; (ii) "closing agreement" as described in section 7121 of the Code or other agreement with a Governmental Entity (or any similar provision of any applicable Legal Requirement) executed on or before the Closing Date; (iii) intercompany transaction or excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under section 1502 of the Code (or any similar provision of any applicable Legal Requirement); (iv) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or before the Closing Date; (v) prepaid amount or deposit received on or before the Closing Date; (vi) amounts on or before the Closing Date pursuant to section 951 of the Code; (vii) debt instrument held by the Company on or before the Closing Date that was acquired with "original issue discount" as defined in section 1273(a) of the Code or subject to the rules set forth in section 1276 of the Code; or (viii) election made by, or with respect to, the Company described in section 108(i) of the Code (or any corresponding or similar state, local or foreign Legal Requirement for Income Taxes).
- (g) Except as set forth in Section 2.11(f) of the Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any predecessor thereof has been a member of a group with which it has filed or been included in a combined, consolidated or unitary Tax Return for Income Taxes, other than the group in which it is currently a member and of which Digi International Inc. is the common parent. The Company is not a party to or bound by any Tax indemnity agreement, Tax sharing agreement or Tax allocation agreement. Except as set forth in Section 2.11(f) of the Disclosure Letter, the Company does not have any Liability for Taxes of another Person pursuant to Treasury Regulations section 1.1502-6 (or any similar state, local or foreign Legal Requirement), as a successor or transferee, by contract or agreement, or otherwise.
- (h) There is no agreement, plan, arrangement or other contract covering any current or former employee or independent contractor of the Company that, considered individually or considered collectively with any other such contract, will, or could reasonably be expected to, give rise directly or indirectly to the payment of any amount that would not be deductible pursuant to section 280G of the Code (without regard to any such amount or payment that is approved by the shareholders of the Company in accordance with section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code and applicable regulations thereunder). The Company is not a party to any contract, nor does it have any obligation or other Liability, to compensate any individual for excise Taxes paid pursuant to section 4999 of the Code.
- (i) The Company has never been a distributing corporation or controlled corporation in a transaction intended to be governed by section 355 of the Code.

- (j) The Company has not engaged in any "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code or Treasury Regulations section 1.6011-4(b).
- (k) The Company has not deferred the inclusion of any amounts in taxable income pursuant to IRS Revenue Procedure 2004-34, Treasury Regulations section 1.451-5, sections 455 or 456 of the Code or any corresponding or similar provision of Legal Requirements (irrespective of whether or not such deferral is elective).
- (l) The Company is not a party to any gain recognition agreement under section 367 of the Code nor has engaged in any transaction subject to section 367(d) of the Code.

2.12 Material Contracts.

- (a) <u>Section 2.12(a)</u> of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all of the following Contracts to which the Company is a party, or by which its properties or assets are subject or bound and which are valid and in force as at the date of this Agreement (collectively, the "**Material Contracts**"):
 - (i) any Contract to purchase or sell any products or services in an amount in excess of \$50,000 that either (A) is not performable within six months or (B) is not terminable by the Company without payment or penalty upon 30 days' notice;
 - (ii) any loan agreement, promissory note, indenture, letter of credit or other Contract or instrument evidencing Indebtedness or providing for the borrowing of money, any Contract for the deferred purchase price of property (excluding normal trade payables) or any Contract or instrument guaranteeing any Indebtedness, letters of credit or obligations to pay the deferred purchase price of property (other than normal trade payables) or to reimburse the maker of any letter of credit or banker's acceptance or any endorsement of any promissory note, bill of exchange or other negotiable instrument (other than endorsements of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business);
 - (iii) any Contract guaranteeing any obligations of any Person;
 - (iv) any joint venture, partnership or other arrangement involving a sharing of profits, other than the Organizational Documents;
 - (v) any sales agency, advertising, promotional or distribution Contract;
 - (vi) any non-competition, exclusive dealing, non-solicitation (other than non-solicitation agreements that allow general solicitations of employees that are not targeted at the employees at issue) or substantially similar Contract, any Contract with a most favored pricing or similar provision and any Contract that grants any right of first refusal or right of first offer or exclusivity right or similar right that limits or purports to limit the ability of the Company to own, operate, sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of any of its assets or business;
 - (vii) any Contract with Seller or its Affiliates, other than the Company's Organizational Documents;
 - (viii) any Contract for the sale of any material assets;
 - (ix) any mortgage, deed of trust, security agreement or other Contract creating a Lien on any assets of the Company, including any capital lease;

- (x) any lease (either as lessor or lessee) of personal property or real property;
- (xi) any Contract for the licensing, transferring, assigning, or granting of covenants not to sue with respect to Intellectual Property, including any software licenses (other than non-negotiated licenses of off-the-shelf software where the aggregate value of all licenses of the same or similar software is less than \$50,000);
 - (xii) any Contract for capital expenditures in excess of \$25,000:
 - (xiii) any Contract with a Governmental Entity;
 - (xiv) any Contract pursuant to which the Company is required to make payments over the entire term of such Contract in excess of \$50,000;
 - (xv) any collective bargaining or other Contract with any labor organization;
- (xvi) any Contract for the employment or engagement of any individual on a full-time, part-time, or consulting basis, except for Contracts with at-will employment arrangements;
 - (xvii) any Contract relating to the acquisition by the Company of any operating business or the assets or capital stock of any other Person;
 - (xviii) any Contract requiring a source code escrow or similar arrangement for any Proprietary Software;
- (xix) any Contract providing for earn-outs, performance guarantees or other similar contingent payments by the Company, which obligations remain outstanding;
 - (xx) any Contract with any Material Customer or Material Supplier;
- (xxi) (A) any master services agreements or similar Contracts and (B) any Statements of Work or similar Contracts pursuant to which the obligations of the Company have not been fully performed or the Company has liability; and
 - (xxii) any other Contract that was not entered into in the ordinary course of business or that is otherwise material to the Company.
- (b) (i) Except to the extent set forth in Section 2.12(b) of the Disclosure Letter, all Material Contracts are in full force and effect and are valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their terms except to the extent such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws related to the enforcement of creditors' rights or by general principles of equity; (ii) the Company is not in material breach of any Material Contract; (iii) no event has occurred that constitutes, or after the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would constitute, a default or event of default under any Material Contract by or in respect of the Company; (iv) to the Company's Knowledge, no event has occurred that constitutes, or after the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would constitute, a default or event of default under a Material Contract by or in respect of any other party to the Material Contract; and (vi) the Company has not (A) received any written notice of termination, cancelation, non-renewal or other material alteration with respect to any Material Contract, or (B) waived or released any of its rights under any Material Contract.
- (c) Correct and complete copies of each written Material Contract and summaries of each unwritten Material Contract have been delivered by the Company to Buyer.

2.13 Employment.

- (a) <u>Section 2.13(a)</u> of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all Employees and all independent contractors engaged by the Company as of October 16, 2015, disclosing the following details in respect of each:
 - (i) name;
 - (ii) date of commencement of employment or of the independent contractor relationship;
 - (iii) position;
 - (iv) whether full-time or part-time;
 - (v) to the extent applicable, classification of such Employee as exempt or non-exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act;
 - (vi) whether such Employee is currently on any leave of absence; and
 - (vii) place of work.

A complete and accurate list of all remuneration payable and other benefits provided or which the Company is bound to provide (whether on or after the date of this Agreement) in respect of each of the Employees and independent contractors has been provided to Buyer.

- (b) True and correct copies of the standard form of each of the following Contracts that covers any Employee or independent contractor of the Company as of the date of this Agreement have been delivered by the Company to Buyer: (i) employment, independent contractor and service Contracts; (ii) offer letters and other arrangements relating to compensation of employees; and (iii) non-competition, non-solicitation, confidentiality, assignment of intellectual property and similar Contracts. Section 2.13(b) of the Disclosure Letter lists any material deviations from the standard forms of such Contracts.
- (c) No Employee is absent or scheduled to be absent from work due to a leave (whether paid or unpaid), including disability leave, other than in accordance with their respective Contracts of employment or due to vacation leave or other leave of absence required under applicable Legal Requirements or offered by the Company under the Company's policies and taken in the ordinary course of the Company's business.
- (d) To the Company's Knowledge, none of the Employees or independent contractors engaged by the Company as at the date of this Agreement has given notice terminating his or her employment or engagement with the Company.
- (e) None of the Employees is under notice of dismissal, nor is there any liability outstanding to any Employee or independent contractor engaged by the Company as at the date of this Agreement or any former employee of the Company or any individual formerly engaged as an independent contractor by the Company, except for remuneration or other benefits accruing due, and all such remuneration or other benefit that has fallen due for payment has been paid.

- (f) To the Company's Knowledge, no Employee is subject to a non-solicitation or non-competition restriction limiting such Employee's ability to be employed by Buyer in the same capacity as such employee is currently employed or engaged by the Company.
- (g) With respect to all Employees of the Company, the Company: (i) is and has been since October 29, 2012 in material compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements respecting labor and employment, employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, wages and hours, classification of employees as exempt or non-exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act and similar state laws, overtime compensation, workers' compensation, equal employment opportunity, equal pay or treatment, discrimination on the basis of any protected classification, fixed term employment, working time, information and consultation, maternity, paternity and parental leave and pay, immigration control, employee classification and data privacy and security; (ii) has withheld and reported in a timely manner all amounts required by law or by agreement to be withheld and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments; (iii) is not liable for any arrears of wages or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing; and (iv) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any Governmental Entity with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security, or other benefits or obligations (other than routine payments, not past due, to be made in the normal course of business and consistent with past practice).
- (h) There are no Legal Proceedings pending relating to any labor, safety or employment matters, nor, to the Company's Knowledge, have any such Legal Proceedings been threatened since January 1, 2014.
- (i) There are no material written personnel manuals, handbooks, policies, rules or procedures applicable to Employees, other than those set forth in Section 2.13(i) of the Disclosure Letter.
- (j) The Company has in its files a Form I-9 that is validly and properly completed in accordance with applicable Legal Requirements for each Employee and former employee with respect to whom such form is required by applicable Legal Requirements.

2.14 Employee Benefits.

(a) Each Welfare Plan, employee pension benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA and each other deferred compensation, bonus, commission, incentive, stock incentive, stock option, stock purchase, stock appreciation, equity-based compensation, profit sharing, severance, change in control, pension, health, medical, dental, disability, life insurance, flexible spending account, sick pay, vacation pay, leave of absence, salary continuation, educational assistance, service award, fringe benefit or other plan, program, policy, or Contract providing compensation or benefits of any kind (other than base wages) that is currently maintained by the Company or with respect to which the Company is under any current obligation to contribute or to which the Company otherwise has any liability or obligation, whether current or contingent, with respect to any current or former employee, officer, consultant, agent, independent contractor or director (or any of their dependents, survivors or beneficiaries) of the Company (collectively, the "Company Employee Plans"), is listed in Section 2.14(a) of the Disclosure Letter and, to the extent a Company Employee Plan is evidenced by documents, true and complete copies of all documents set forth the terms of each such Company Employee Plan have been provided to Buyer. In addition, copies of the summary plan descriptions and summaries of material modifications of each Company Employee Plan or other written summaries, copies of trust agreements, insurance contracts or other funding arrangements for the Company Employee Plans,

third party service agreements for the Company Employee Plans, copies of the most recent determination letter (or opinion or advisory letter in the case of a plan maintained on a pre-approved plan document) issued by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to each applicable Company Employee Plan, all written communication received from any Governmental Entity with respect to a Company Employee Plan in the past three years, and copies of the annual report (Form 5500 Series in the United States or similar report in any other country) required to be filed with any Governmental Entity with respect to each Company Employee Plan for the three most recent plan years of such plan for which reports have been filed have been.

- (b) The Company has made on a timely basis all contributions or payments required to be made for periods up to and including the Closing Date by it under the terms of the Company Employee Plans or applicable Legal Requirements. Any contributions or payments for any period ending on or before the Closing Date that are not yet due, have been made or fully accrued for in the Closing Balance Sheet and the Books and Records of the Company.
- (c) Except as otherwise set forth in Section 2.14(c) of the Disclosure Letter, each Company Employee Plan (and any related trust, insurance agreement, or other funding instrument) has been administered in all material respects in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements, and all material reports required to be filed with any Governmental Entity with respect to each Company Employee Plan have been timely filed. Each Company Employee Plan that is intended to be a tax-qualified Plan under section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS (or is a preapproved plan entitled to rely on the opinion or advisory opinion of the pre-approved plan sponsor).
- (d) There is no Legal Proceeding pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, threatened against the Company or by any Governmental Entity, or any participant or beneficiary, with respect to any Company Employee Plan. Neither the Company nor, to the Company's Knowledge, any of its ERISA Affiliates has engaged in any transaction in violation of section 406 of ERISA for which no exemption exists under section 408 of ERISA or any "prohibited transaction" (as defined in section 4975(c)(1) of the Code) for which no exemption exists under section 4975(c)(2) or section 4975(d) of the Code, or is subject to any excise Tax imposed by the Code with respect to any Company Employee Plan. No act or omission has occurred that could cause the Company to be subject to an assessable payment under Code Section 4980H.
- (e) Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates currently maintains, nor at any time in the six calendar years ending immediately prior to the calendar year in which the Effective Time falls maintained, or had an obligation to contribute to, (i) any defined benefit pension plan subject to Title IV of ERISA or any money pension plan subject to Code Section 412, (ii) any "multiemployer plan" as defined in sections 4001(a)(3) and/or 3(37) of ERISA, (iii) any defined benefit or superannuation plan or scheme that is or was subject to the laws of any jurisdiction outside of the United States, or (iv) any "multiple employer welfare arrangement," as defined in section 3(40) of ERISA. There are no Liens against the assets of the Company or an ERISA Affiliate under Title IV of ERISA.
- (f) No Company Employee Plan provides health, dental or life insurance benefits to any employee of the Company, or any dependent of any such employee, following termination of the employee's employment, except as may be required by section 4980B(f) of the Code or any similar Legal Requirement and at the employee's (or dependent's) sole expense. The requirements of section 4980B(f) of the Code and parts 6 and 7 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, including the provisions relating to continuation of health coverage under COBRA, and any similar requirements under any other applicable Legal Requirement relating to continuation of employee welfare benefits have been satisfied in all material respects with respect to each Company Employee Plan that is subject to such requirements. The Company is not bound by any Contract (including any collective bargaining agreement or individual employment or other agreement) to maintain any Company Employee Plan.

- (g) Each Company Benefit Plan that constitutes a "non-qualified deferred compensation plan" subject to Code Section 409A complies in all material respects with Code Section 409A with respect to its form and operation, no amounts under any such Company Benefit Plan is or has been subject to the interest and additional tax set forth under Code Section 409A(a)(1)(B), and there is no obligation to reimburse or otherwise "gross-up" any Person for the interest or additional tax set forth under Code Section 409A(a)(1)(B).
- (h) Neither the execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will result (either alone or in combination with any other event in (i) any "parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code, or (ii) in any current or former employee, director, officer, consultant or independent contractor of the Company receiving any payment or benefit, increase in payment or benefit, accelerated vesting in a right to payment or benefit or require the funding of any payment or benefit.
 - (i) No Company Employee Plan is subject to the laws of any jurisdiction outside of the United States.

2.15 Intellectual Property.

- (a) Section 2.15(a)(1) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth all applications for registration, registered and material unregistered Intellectual Property owned by the Company and, with respect to each application or registration, includes the name of the item and, where applicable, application or registration number and jurisdiction of registration, application, certification and filing. The Company exclusively owns (free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens) the Intellectual Property set forth (or required to be set forth) in Section 2.15(a)(1) of the Disclosure Letter. All necessary registration, maintenance and renewal fees in connection with each item of Intellectual Property listed (or required to be listed) in Section 2.15(a)(1) of the Disclosure Letter have been paid and all necessary documents and certificates have been filed with the relevant patent, copyright, trademark or other authorities for purposes of maintaining such item of Intellectual Property, and all Intellectual Property listed (or required to be listed) in Section 2.15(a)(1) is unexpired, subsisting and, to the extent issued or granted is, to the Company's Knowledge, valid and enforceable. Section 2.15(a)(2) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth all licenses to use third-party Intellectual Property used by the Company (other than non-negotiated licenses of off-the-shelf software where the aggregate value of all licenses of the same or similar software is less than \$50,000) and all Contracts pursuant to which another Person has conveyed material Intellectual Property to the Company. The Intellectual Property owned by the Company, together with the Intellectual Property licensed to the Company, constitutes all of the Intellectual Property used, held for use, or otherwise necessary for the operation of the business of the Company as currently conducted.
- (b) (i) The Company has not interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated or violated the Intellectual Property of any other Person, and, to the Company's Knowledge, no other Person is interfering with, infringing upon, misappropriating or violating the Intellectual Property of the Company.
 - (ii) No claims or proceedings are pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, are threatened against the Company, alleging that the Company has infringed upon or otherwise violated, or caused or induced any Person to infringe upon or otherwise violate, any known right or claimed right of any Person under or with respect to any Intellectual Property of any other

Person. The Company has not received written notice of any pending or threatened Legal Proceeding or any allegation or claim in which any Person alleges that the Company has violated any Person's Intellectual Property. Further, the Company has not received a written offer from any other Person proposing to grant a license to the Company to Intellectual Property of said other Person purported to relate to the Company.

- (iii) (A) All licenses listed (or required to be listed) on Section 2.15(a)(2) of the Disclosure Letter are in full force and effect and are valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their terms except to the extent such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws related to the enforcement of creditors' rights or by general principles of equity; (B) the Company is not in breach of any such license; (C) no event has occurred that constitutes, or after the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would constitute, a default or event of default under any such license by or in respect of the Company; (D) to the Company's Knowledge, no other party to such license is in breach thereof; and (E) to the Company's Knowledge, no event has occurred that constitutes, or after the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would constitute, a default or event of default under any such license by or in respect of any other party to the license.
- (iv) To the Company's Knowledge, the Company has not used any confidential information or trade secrets in violation of the rights of any Person.
- (v) The Company has taken commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the secrecy of all of the Company's confidential information, including the Company's Proprietary Software. The Company has not disclosed to any Person not obligated to maintain the confidentiality thereof any trade secret or other Intellectual Property the value of which is contingent upon confidentiality without securing an appropriate confidentiality agreement, and to the Company's Knowledge there have been no violations of any such confidentiality obligations owed to the Company.
- (vi) The Company has not entered into any covenant not to compete, trademark agreement, patent agreement or other Contract limiting or purporting to limit the ability of the Company to transact business in any market or geographical area or with any Person.
- (c) None of the Proprietary Software of the Company has been delivered, licensed, published or disclosed by the Company, except pursuant to a written non-disclosure agreement that is in the standard form used by the Company or similar agreement requiring the recipient to keep such Proprietary Software or trade secrets confidential. Except as set forth in Section 2.15(c) of the Disclosure Letter, (i) the Company does not have any duty or obligation (whether present, contingent or otherwise) to deliver, license or make available any source code of any Proprietary Software to any escrow agent or other Person who is not, as of the date of this Agreement, an employee of the Company, and (ii) no event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) will, or could reasonably be expected to, result in the delivery, license or disclosure of any source code of any Proprietary Software of the Company to any other Person who is not, as of the date of this Agreement, an employee of the Company.
- (d) Section 2.15(d) of the Disclosure Letter lists all Open Source Software used or otherwise Exploited by the Company in any way. The Company has not at any time used or otherwise Exploited any Open Source Software in such a way that any Proprietary Software of the Company is subject to any "copyleft" or other obligation or condition (including any obligation or condition under any Open Source License) that could or does require, or could or does condition the use or other Exploitation of such Proprietary Software on, the disclosure, licensing or distribution of such Proprietary Software or any portion thereof.

- **2.16** <u>Labor Disputes</u>. There are no strikes, work stoppages, picketing, or slowdowns or labor disputes or claims of unfair labor practices pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, threatened against the Company. No employees of the Company are union employees or otherwise subject to any collective bargaining agreement or other union, association or similar Contract. No union or association organizing or election activities involving any employees of the Company are in progress or, to the Company's Knowledge, have been threatened.
- **2.17** <u>Finders or Investment Bankers</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.17</u> of the Disclosure Letter, neither Seller nor the Company has employed or will employ, or agreed to pay any fees or commission to, any investment banker, business consultant, financial adviser, broker or finder in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- **2.18** Insurance. Section 2.18 of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all insurance policies taken on behalf of the Company. Each of the insurance policies identified in Section 2.18 of the Disclosure Letter is in full force and effect as of the date of this Agreement. All premiums due on such insurance policies have either been paid, or if due and payable prior to Closing, will be paid prior to the Closing in accordance with the payment terms of such insurance policy. The Company is not in material default under any such insurance policy. Such insurance policies provide all coverage required by applicable Legal Requirements and the terms and conditions of Real Property Leases (as defined below), if applicable.

2.19 Real Estate.

- (a) The Company does not own, or has it ever owned, any real property.
- (b) (i) <u>Section 2.19(b)</u> of the Disclosure Letter identifies all real property leases and other arrangements (the "**Real Property Leases**") under which, as of the date of this Agreement, the Company uses, occupies or has the right to use or occupy, now or in the future, any real property (the building space and other improvements covered by the Real Property Leases being collectively called the "**Leased Real Property**"). The Leased Real Property is the only real property occupied by the Company.
 - (ii) To the Company's Knowledge, each Real Property Lease is valid, binding, in full force and effect and enforceable in accordance with its terms (except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity); all rent and other sums and charges payable by the Company as tenant thereunder are current and not delinquent; no notice of default or termination under any Real Property Lease is outstanding; the Company is not (and, to the Company's Knowledge, no other party is) in material breach of any of the Real Property Leases, and no termination event or condition or uncured default on the part of the Company exists under any of the Real Property Leases and no event has occurred and no condition exists that constitutes or, with the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute, such a default or termination event or condition.
 - (iii) The Company has provided to Buyer correct and complete copies of each Real Property Lease, and any estoppel certificates, subordination agreements or similar instruments that would preclude assertion of any claim by the tenant under any Real Property Lease, affect any of the tenant's rights or obligations under any Real Property Lease, or otherwise be binding upon any successor to the Company's position under any Real Property Lease.

- (iv) Except for the Real Property Leases, there is no lease (including any sublease) or occupancy agreement in effect with respect to any Leased Real Property. To the Company's Knowledge, there is no pending or threatened proceeding regarding condemnation or other eminent domain proceeding affecting any Leased Real Property or any sale or other disposition of Leased Real Property in lieu of condemnation. The Company has good title to the leasehold estate and other rights of the tenant with respect to the property affected by each Real Property Lease, free and clear of all Liens, except for (i) Permitted Liens or (ii) any Lien on the applicable fee title, the payment or performance of which is not the responsibility of the Company as tenant under the applicable Real Property Lease.
- (v) The use and occupancy by the Company of the Leased Real Property is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements.
- (vi) The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain (to the extent required under the applicable Real Property Lease) the written consent of the landlord of each Real Property Lease to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (vii) The Company has not contested any operating costs, real estate taxes or assessments or other charges payable by the tenant under any Real Property Lease; there are no rights of first refusal, first options or other rights held by the Company with respect to any Real Property Lease or the real estate affected by such Real Property Lease that are not contained within the Real Property Lease; and the Company has not exercised any option or right to terminate, renew or extend or otherwise affect the rights or obligations of the tenant under any Real Property Lease.
- **2.20 Powers of Attorney.** Section 2.20 of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all powers of attorney granted or entered into by the Company that are still in effect.
 - **2.21** Transactions with Affiliates, Seller, and Others. Except as set forth in Section 2.21 of the Disclosure Letter:
- (a) the Company does not have any Liability owing to any stockholder (including Seller), member, equity holder, consultant, employee or Affiliate of the Company or Seller;
- (b) no stockholder (including Seller), member, equity holder, consultant, employee or Affiliate of the Company or Seller has any indebtedness for borrowed money owing to the Company, except for ordinary business expense advances; and
- (c) no stockholder (including Seller), member, equity holder, consultant, employee or Affiliate of the Company or Seller, or, to the Company's Knowledge, any individual related by blood, marriage, or adoption to any such Person, is, or since October 29, 2012 has been, a party to any Contract with the Company or has, or had since October 29, 2012, any material interest in any property or asset used by the Company (including any Intellectual Property or Proprietary Software), in each case involving amounts in excess of \$25,000.

2.22 Environmental Matters.

(a) Since October 1, 2012, the Company has obtained each material Permit that it is or was required to obtain under any Environmental Law. Since October 1, 2012, the Company is and always has been in material compliance with all Environmental Laws and the terms and conditions of all Permits issued with respect to the Company pursuant to any Environmental Law.

- (b) There is no Environmental Claim pending or, to the Company's Knowledge, threatened against the Company or against any Person whose Liability for such Environmental Claim the Company has or retained or assumed by Contract or under any Legal Requirement.
- (c) The Company has not installed, used, generated, treated, disposed of or arranged for the disposal of any Hazardous Substance in any manner so as to create any material Liability under any Environmental Law or any other Liability for the Company.
- (d) To the Knowledge of the Company, there has been no release of any Hazardous Substance at, under, around, or migrating to or from a Leased Real Property or any other property occupied by the Company that could result in Liability for the Company or limit or restrict the Company's current use and occupancy of the such Leased Real Property.
- **2.23** Material Customers and Suppliers. Section 2.23 of the Disclosure Letter contains a list setting forth the 20 largest customers of the Company, by dollar amount of revenue recognized, over the twelve months ended on the date of the Most Recent Balance Sheet (and the amount of revenue recognized with respect to each such customer during such twelve-month period) (the "Material Customers") and the 20 largest suppliers of and service providers to the Company, by dollar amount paid, over the twelve months ended on the date of the Most Recent Balance Sheet (and the amount paid to each such supplier or service provider during such twelve-month period) (the "Material Suppliers"). Since October 1, 2014, the Company has not received any written notice indicating that any such Material Supplier or Material Customer is or was (i) disputing or refusing to pay amounts alleged to be owed by it to the Company or (ii) terminating or materially reducing or making any materially adverse change in its or any of its Affiliates' business relationship with the Company. The Company has achieved and currently maintains Platinum Partner status with salesforce.com.

2.24 Privacy and Security.

- (a) The Company's use, collection, storage, disclosure or transfer of any personally identifiable information or sensitive personal information (including any credit card-related information or other payment-related information), is, and since October 29, 2012 has been, in compliance in all material respects with all Legal Requirements.
- (b) The Company uses commercially reasonable efforts to protect the confidentiality, integrity and security of its systems (and all information and transactions stored or contained therein or transmitted thereby) against any unauthorized use, access, interruption, modification or corruption, in material conformance with applicable industry practices, including (i) the use of adequate-strength encryption technology and (ii) the implementation of a comprehensive security plan which (x) identifies internal and external risks to the security of the confidential information of the Company; and (y) implements, monitors and improves safeguards to control those risks.
- **2.25** Bank Accounts. Section 2.25 of the Disclosure Letter contains a list setting forth each bank or financial institution in which the Company has an account, safe deposit box or lockbox, or maintains a banking, custodial, trading or similar relationship, the number of each such account or box, and the names of all persons authorized to draw thereon or to having signatory power or access thereto.
- **2.26 Warranties**. During the prior two years, to the Company's Knowledge, there have been no claims asserted in a written letter against the Company or any of its Affiliates alleging any defects in the services or products of the Company or alleging any failure of the services or products of the Company to meet specifications.
- **2.27** No Additional Representations. Except as expressly set forth in this Article 2, neither Seller nor the Company makes any other express or implied representations or warranties and each hereby disclaims any additional representation or warranty.

ARTICLE 3 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Buyer represents and warrants to Seller as follows:

3.1 Corporate Organization.

- (a) Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of Delaware and has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted.
- (b) Buyer is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the property owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for such failures that, individually or in the aggregate, would not be reasonably likely to materially impair the ability of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- **3.2** <u>Authorization and Execution</u>. Buyer has the organizational power and authority required to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each document to be executed and delivered by Buyer pursuant hereto by Buyer and the consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Buyer. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Buyer and constitutes a legal, valid and binding agreement on the part of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity.
- **3.3** <u>Non-Contravention</u>. Neither the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each document to be executed and delivered pursuant hereto by Buyer nor the consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated hereby will:
- (a) require Buyer to obtain or make any Consents, Filings, or Notices of or with any Governmental Entity, except for the Consents, Filings, and Notices that have been obtained prior to Closing;
 - (b) violate any Legal Requirements or Orders applicable to Buyer;
 - (c) violate any provision of the certificate of formation or operating agreement of Buyer; or
- (d) violate, conflict with, or result in the breach of any of the terms of, accelerate, result in a modification of the effect of, require the consent of or other action by any Person under, or cause the termination of or give any other contracting party the right to terminate, or constitute a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation, or acceleration) under (with or without the passage of time), or create a penalty under, any provision of any material note, bond, Contract, or other instrument to which Buyer is a party or to which it is subject, except to the extent that the requisite consent or approval has been obtained prior to Closing.

- **3.4** <u>Pending Actions</u>. There is no pending or, to the Knowledge of Buyer, threatened, Legal Proceeding against or relating to Buyer to restrain or prevent the carrying out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or that would be reasonably likely to materially impair the ability of Buyer to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- **3.5** <u>Finders or Investment Bankers</u>. Neither Buyer nor any of its officers, directors, or Affiliates has employed, or agreed to pay any fees or commissions to, any investment banker, business consultant, financial advisor, broker or finder in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to whom Seller could be liable for any fees or other obligations.

ARTICLE 4 COVENANTS

4.1 <u>Non-Interference</u>. Seller will not take any action that is intended to discourage any customer or client, licensor, supplier, employee, agent or other business associate of the Company from maintaining the same business relationships with the Company after the Effective Time as it maintained with the Company before the Effective Time.

4.2 Tax Matters.

(a) Seller will prepare and timely and properly file (or cause to be prepared and timely and properly filed) all (i) Tax Returns with respect to the Company required to be filed on or before the Closing Date (after taking into account extensions therefor) and (ii) consolidated, combined or unitary Tax Returns that include Seller and the Company that are required to be filed before, on or after the Closing Date. Buyer will prepare and timely file (or cause to be prepared and timely filed) all Tax Returns with respect to the Company that Seller is not obligated to file (or cause to be filed) pursuant to this Section 4.2(a) or Section 4.2(b) and Seller shall provide Buyer with a list of all such Tax Returns for Pre-Closing Tax Periods no later than thirty (30) days following the Closing Date. Seller will timely and properly satisfy (or cause to be satisfied) in full when due all Taxes with respect to (i) the Seller or any of its Affiliates (excluding the Company) for any Tax period; (ii) the Company with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period; (iii) a member of any affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group of which the Company (or any predecessor thereto) is or was a member before Closing in which one or more entities other than the Company is or was also a member, including Taxes pursuant to Treasury Regulations section 1.1502-6 or any similar applicable Legal Requirement; (iv) any Person (other than the Company) imposed on the Company for any period as a transferee or successor with respect to a transaction occurring on or before the Closing Date, by applicable Legal Requirement, contract or otherwise; and (v) any Taxes imposed in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including one half of any Transfer Taxes (all of such Taxes being the "Pre-Closing Taxes"). If Buyer is required under this Section 4.2(a) to file any Tax Return for Income Taxes that involves Pre-Closing Taxes, then no later than ten (10) Business Days before the filing of any such Tax Return, Seller will pay to Buyer an amount equal to the amount of Taxes shown due on such Tax Return for which Seller is obligated with respect to such Tax Return. If any Tax Return of the Company for Income Taxes prepared (or caused to be prepared) by Buyer relates to any period that is a Pre-Closing Tax Period, then Buyer will give to Seller a copy of such Tax Return as soon as practicable after the preparation, but not later than fifteen (15) days before the filing or due date thereof if earlier, thereof for Seller's review and comment. Buyer will make any changes to such Tax Return that are reasonably requested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller will only be liable for any such Taxes described in this Section 4.2(a) to the extent that such Taxes exceed the sum of (1) the amount, if any, of estimated Taxes paid for

such Taxes on or before the Closing Date plus (2) the amount, if any, accrued for such Taxes in the Final Working Capital, as finally determined pursuant to Section 1.6(f). Buyer may not amend any Tax Return of the Company for a Pre-Closing Tax Period without Seller's prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably conditioned, delayed or withheld.

- (b) Seller shall prepare or cause to be prepared, at Seller's expense, all Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company for all taxable periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date with an initial due date (taking into account any extensions properly obtained) after the Closing Date (each, a "Pre-Closing Return"). All Pre-Closing Returns shall be prepared in accordance with applicable Legal Requirements and, to the extent not inconsistent with applicable Legal Requirements, the past practice of the Company in preparing their Tax Returns. Seller shall provide Buyer with each Pre-Closing Return no later than fifteen (15) days prior to the due date thereof (taking into account any extensions properly obtained) for Buyer's review, comment and filing.
- (c) Each party will, and each party will cause its applicable Affiliates to, cooperate in all reasonable respects with respect to Tax matters involving the Company and provide one another with such information as is reasonably requested to enable the requesting party to complete and file all Tax Returns it may be required to file (or cause to be filed) with respect to the Company, to respond to Tax audits, inquiries or other Tax proceedings, and to otherwise satisfy Tax requirements. Such cooperation also will include promptly forwarding copies (to the extent related thereto) of (i) relevant Tax notices, forms or other communications received from or sent to any Governmental Entity and (ii) reasonably requested copies of all relevant Tax Returns together with accompanying schedules and related workpapers, documents relating to rulings, audits or other Tax determinations by any Governmental Entity and records concerning the ownership and Tax basis of property.
- (d) In the case of any Taxes for any Straddle Period of the Company, the portion of such Tax which relates to the portion of such Straddle Period ending at the end of the Closing Date shall (i) in the case of any property Taxes and other Taxes imposed on a periodic basis without regard to income, receipts, sales, purchases or wages, be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the portion of such Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the total number of days in such Straddle Period, and (ii) in the case of any other Tax, be deemed equal to the amount which would be payable if the relevant taxable period ended at the end of the Closing Date.
- (e) Each of Buyer, on the one hand, and Seller, on the other hand, will pay half of all Transfer Taxes, and Seller and Buyer will cooperate in timely making all filings, returns, reports and forms as may be required to comply with the provisions of applicable Legal Requirements relating thereto.
- (f) Any Tax refunds that are actually received by the Company or that the Company or the Buyer elects to apply to reduce another tax liability that relate to a Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be for the account of Seller and Buyer shall pay over to Seller any such refund within fifteen (15) days after receipt or election, net of any Taxes imposed upon Buyer or the Company by reason of receipt or election with respect to such refund or in connection with such refund; *provided*, *however*, that if any such Tax refunds are subsequently disallowed, Seller shall pay over to Buyer the amount of any such Tax refund within fifteen (15) days after such disallowance.
- (g) This <u>Section 4.2(g)</u> only relates to claims for indemnification that involve a Tax Claim (and then only to such Tax Claim itself). In the case of any conflict regarding the procedures applicable to the conduct of Tax Claims set forth in this <u>Section 4.2(g)</u> and <u>Section 8.2</u>, this <u>Section 4.2(g)</u> shall prevail. The Indemnitor for a Tax Claim will control (at its own expense) all proceedings in

connection with such Tax Claim for a Tax period ending on or before the Closing Date that the Indemnitor elects in writing to control within ten (10) days of receiving notice of such Tax Claim (and if the Indemnitor elects to control any such Tax Claim, the Indemnitee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to participate and observe the defense of such Tax Claim at the Indemnitee's expense), and, without limiting the foregoing, the Indemnitor may in its sole discretion take actions (including with any of its Affiliates) that include to pursue or forego any hearing, conference or other proceeding with any applicable Governmental Entity with respect thereto, pay the Tax claimed, sue for a refund (where Legal Requirements permit such a refund suit) or contest such Tax Claim (including any combination of the foregoing), except that Seller, at its own expense, will control (and may take such actions with respect to) (but Buyer may participate in at its own expense) any proceeding in connection with any Tax Claim relating solely to any Income Tax with respect to the Company as a member of any combined consolidated or unitary group with respect to any period ending on or before the Closing Date, except that the Indemnitor and Indemnitee will jointly control any proceeding in connection with any Tax Claim relating to any Income Tax with respect to the Company with respect to a Straddle Period. Buyer shall control any Tax Claim which Seller is not entitled to control, does not elect to control, or fails to diligently pursue pursuant to this Section 4.2(g). Each party will not (and will cause each of its Affiliates not to) admit any liability with respect to, settle or compromise, or appeal any adverse determination in any Tax Claim without the prior written consent of the other party (which consent will not be unreasonably conditioned, delayed, or withheld), except that Seller may admit any Liability with respect to, or settle or compromise, any Tax Claim to the extent relating to Income Taxes of or with respect

(h) Seller and each of its Affiliates will make or cause to be made (or join in making, as applicable) an election under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-36(d)(6) (and any corresponding provision of state, local or non-U.S. Tax Legal Requirement) in connection with the sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement to reduce the Seller's tax basis in the Shares in lieu of reducing any net operating loss, tax basis or other tax attributes of the Company. Seller shall not make, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to make, (i) any election pursuant to Section 336(e) of the Code in connection with the sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement, or (ii) any other election the effect of which would be to reduce any net operating loss, tax basis or other tax attribute of the Company.

4.3 Restrictive Covenants.

(a) For a period of three (3) years commencing on the Closing Date (the "Restricted Period"), except as provided herein, Seller shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, (i) own, operate, manage, control, invest in or otherwise engage in any capacity in a Restricted Business; (ii) have an interest in any Person that owns, operates, manages, controls, invests in or otherwise engages directly or indirectly in a Restricted Business in any capacity, including as a partner, shareholder, member, employee, principal, agent, trustee or consultant; or (iii) intentionally interfere in any material respect with the business relationships (whether formed prior to or after the date of this Agreement) between the Company and any of its customers or suppliers, partners or other business relationships. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller may (A) own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any Person traded on any national securities exchange if Seller is not a controlling Person of, or a member of a group which controls, such Person and does not, directly or indirectly, own 5% or more of any class of securities of such Person, and in any case so long as and only if Seller or such Affiliate is not involved in the management of such Person or its business and (B) provide consulting services regarding the implementation, configuration and customization of salesforce.com enterprise applications or enterprise applications that are directly competitive therewith in direct response to a request by a customer of Seller or any of its Affiliates that is incidental to the sale of goods or services that are outside the scope of the Restricted Business by Seller or any of its Affiliates.

- (b) During the Restricted Period, Seller shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, hire or solicit any employee of the Company or encourage any such employee to leave such employment or hire any such employee who has left such employment, except pursuant to a general solicitation which is not directed specifically to any such employees; provided, that nothing in this Section 4.3(b) shall prevent Seller or any of its Affiliates from (i) hiring (A) any employee whose employment has been terminated by the Company or Buyer for any reason at least six (6) months prior to being hired by Seller or such Affiliate or (B) any employee whose employment has been terminated by the employee at least twelve (12) months prior to being hired by Seller or such Affiliate; or (ii) conducting general solicitations of employment not targeted at the employees of the Company and hiring any individuals who respond to such solicitations. For the avoidance of doubt, none of the foregoing provisos (i) or (ii) in this paragraph shall be deemed to waive, terminate or otherwise affect in any respect any obligations (with respect to restrictive covenants or otherwise) of any employee or former employee of the Company or Buyer.
- (c) If Seller breaches any of the provisions of this <u>Section 4.3</u>, Buyer and the Company shall have the following rights and remedies, each of which rights and remedies shall be independent of the others and severally enforceable, and each of which is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies available to any such Person under applicable Legal Requirements:
 - (i) the right and remedy to have such provision specifically enforced by any court having jurisdiction, it being acknowledged and agreed that any such breach may cause irreparable injury to each of Buyer and the Company, the amount of which cannot be readily determined and as to which neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates (including the Company after the Closing) will have any adequate remedy at law or in damages, and that money damages may not provide an adequate remedy to such Person; and
 - (ii) the right and remedy to recover from Seller all monetary damages suffered by Buyer and the Company, as the case may be, as the result of any acts or omissions constituting a breach of this <u>Section 4.3</u>.
- (d) Seller recognizes and acknowledges that as of the Closing, it has knowledge of confidential and proprietary information concerning the Company and Buyer including information relating to financial statements, clients, customers, potential clients or customers, employees, suppliers, equipment, designs, drawings, programs, strategies, analyses, profit margins, sales, methods of operation, plans, products, technologies, materials, trade secrets, strategies, prospects or other proprietary information ("Confidential Information"); provided that Confidential Information shall not include information that: (i) is or becomes generally available to the public, other than as a result of a disclosure by Seller in breach or violation of this Agreement; (ii) becomes available to Seller on a non-confidential basis from a source other than the Company or Buyer, provided that such source of such information is not known by Seller to be bound by a confidentiality agreement with Buyer or the Company regarding such information; or (iii) was independently developed by Seller without use of, or reference to, any of the information of the Company. In light of the foregoing, from and after the Closing, Seller shall maintain the confidentiality of, and refrain from using or disclosing to any Person, all Confidential Information, except to the extent disclosure of any such information is required by Legal Requirement or any such information is in the public domain through no wrongful act on the part of Seller or any of its Affiliates or agents; provided however, that Seller's obligations pursuant to this sentence shall terminate on the seventh anniversary of the Closing with respect to all Confidential Information that does not constitute a trade secret under applicable Legal Requirements, it being agreed that Seller's obligations pursuant to this sentence with respect to Confidential Information constituting a trade secret under applicable Legal Requirements shall last indefinitely. In the event that Seller reasonably believes aft

Information, Seller will (i) to the extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirement, provide Buyer with prompt notice before such disclosure so that Buyer may attempt to obtain a protective order or other assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to such Confidential Information and (ii) cooperate with Buyer (at Buyer's expense) in attempting to obtain such order or assurance.

- (e) Seller acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this Section 4.3 are reasonable and necessary in all respects, are necessary to protect the legitimate interests of Buyer and the Company and to protect and preserve the value and the goodwill of Buyer's and the Company's businesses, and constitute a material inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement and consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Seller further agrees that the length of time, scope and geographic coverage is reasonable given the benefits it has received hereunder. Seller further agrees that it will not assert that the Restricted Period or the scope or geographic coverage of the restrictions contained in this Section 4.3 are unreasonable in any Legal Proceeding, regardless of who initiates such Legal Proceeding, provided, however, that this covenant does not preclude Seller from asserting in any Legal Proceeding, regardless of who initiates such Legal Proceeding, that Buyer's interpretation of the scope of the restrictions contained in this Section 4.3 is unreasonable.
- (f) In the event that any covenant contained in this Section 4.3 should be adjudicated to exceed the time, geographic, product or service, or other limitations permitted by applicable Legal Requirements in any jurisdiction, then any court is expressly empowered to reform such covenant, and such covenant shall be deemed reformed, in such jurisdiction to the maximum time, geographic, product or service, or other limitations permitted by applicable Legal Requirements. The covenants contained in this Section 4.3 and each provision hereof are severable and distinct covenants and provisions. The invalidity or unenforceability of any such covenant or provision as written shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the remaining covenants or provisions hereof, and any such invalidity or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such covenant or provision in any other jurisdiction.

4.4 Waiver, Release and Discharge.

- (a) Effective upon the Closing, Seller, on its own behalf and on behalf of its successors, assigns and any other Person that may claim by, through or under Seller, hereby irrevocably waives, releases and discharges the Company from any and all Liabilities to Seller of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether as an equity holder of the Company or otherwise, including arising in connection with the negotiation or execution of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and Seller covenants and agrees that Seller shall not seek to recover any amounts in connection therewith or thereunder from the Company, other than Liabilities arising subsequent to the Closing under the Transaction Documents and as otherwise permitted by the terms of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document.
- (b) Effective upon the Closing, Buyer, on its own behalf and on behalf of the Company and each of their respective successors, assigns and any other Person that may claim by, through or under Buyer or the Company, hereby irrevocably waives, releases and discharges Seller from any and all Liabilities to the Company of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether as parent of the Company or otherwise, including arising in connection with the negotiation or execution of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and Buyer covenants and agrees that Buyer shall not, and Buyer shall cause the Company not to, seek to recover any amounts in connection therewith or thereunder from Seller, other than Liabilities arising subsequent to the Closing under the Transaction Documents and as otherwise permitted by the terms of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document.

- **4.5** <u>Agreement Not to Pursue</u>. Following the Closing, Seller shall not initiate any Legal Proceeding against AJ Gallagher or its Affiliates with respect to, or otherwise pursue, approach or engage in discussions with AJ Gallagher or its Affiliates regarding, any amount due and owing to the Company or Seller with respect to work performed by the Company prior to the Closing.
- **4.6** <u>Post-Closing Deliveries of Buyer</u>. Buyer shall deliver to Seller the following (all of which shall be deemed Confidential Information subject to <u>Section 4.3</u>):
- (a) a copy of the audited financial statements of Buyer with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, to be delivered no later than May 1, 2016;
- (b) a summary, unaudited calculation of the working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of Buyer as of March 31, 2016, to be delivered no later than April 15, 2016;
- (c) a summary, unaudited calculation of the working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of Buyer as of June 30, 2016, to be delivered no later than July 15, 2016;
- (d) a summary, unaudited calculation of the working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of Buyer as of September 30, 2016, to be delivered no later than October 15, 2016;
- (e) a summary, unaudited calculation of the working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of Buyer as of December 31, 2016, to be delivered no later than January 15, 2017;
- (f) a summary, unaudited calculation of the working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of Buyer as of March 31, 2017, to be delivered no later than April 15, 2017;
- (g) a copy of the audited financial statements of Buyer with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, to be delivered no later than May 1, 2017;
- (h) a summary, unaudited calculation of the working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of Buyer as of June 30, 2017, to be delivered no later than August 15, 2017; and
- (i) a summary, unaudited calculation of the working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of Buyer as of September 30, 2017, to be delivered no later than October 15, 2017;
- **4.7** Transfer of Company Payments. From and after the Closing Date, if Seller or any of its Affiliates receives or collects any funds relating to services performed by the Company (regardless of whether such services were performed before or after the Effective Time), Seller shall (or shall cause such Affiliates to) remit such funds to Buyer within five (5) Business Days after its receipt thereof.

4.8 Insurance Coverage

- (a) Seller shall maintain insurance policies for directors' and officers' liability, fiduciary liability and employment practices liability with limits of liability and applicable deductibles consistent with the customary practices of similarly situated companies in full force and effect until the sixth (6th) anniversary of the Closing Date, which policies shall provide insurance coverage for events, acts or omissions occurring on or prior to the Closing Date, including in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, for the Company and all persons who were directors or officers of the Company on or prior to the Closing Date, as applicable; provided, however, that if Seller ceases to be a public company, Seller will have no further obligation to maintain such insurance but will offer to Buyer to purchase, and will purchase at Buyer's expense if so requested by Buyer, tail coverage for the remaining portion of the six (6) year period beginning on the Closing Date with the same functional terms, conditions, limits and/or deductible of the prior policies.
 - (b) Buyer shall reimburse Seller for the cost of the Tail Policy promptly after the Closing Date.

- **4.9** <u>Agreement Not to Use</u>. Following the Closing, Seller shall not use, and shall cause each of its Affiliates not to use, any Intellectual Property associated with the name "Etherios" and/or related logos, including the trademark "Device Cloud by Etherios."
- **4.10** Employee Payments. Within forty five (45) days of Closing, Seller shall notify Buyer in writing of the Company employees entitled to receive a bonus and/or commission payment from Seller and the gross amount payable to each such employee with respect to such bonus and/or commission. Within ten (10) Business Days of receiving such written notice, Buyer shall cause the Company to pay to each such employee through its payroll system the amount of such bonus and/or commission specified by Seller net of applicable withholdings. Any disputes with Company employees relating to the payment of pre-Closing bonuses and commissions shall be resolved between Seller and such Company employees, and Seller will retain liability for, and indemnify and hold Buyer harmless for, any such disputes.

ARTICLE 5 INDEMNIFICATION

5.1 Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the parties hereunder shall survive until the fifteen month anniversary of the Closing Date, except that (i) (x) the representations and warranties in Sections 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.11 and 2.17, (y) the representations and warranties in Sections 3.1, 3.2 and 3.5 shall survive until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations plus a period of 60 days (with respect to Section 2.11 giving effect to any waiver or extension thereof for any Tax in question) (the representations and warranties referred to in clause (x) being called the "Buyer Specified Representations") and (z) the representations and warranties in Section 2.15(a) shall survive until the third anniversary of the Closing Date; and (ii) the covenants shall survive until they are fully performed in accordance with their terms. The expiration of the applicable survival period of the representations and warranties provided herein will not affect the rights of an Indemnitee in respect of any claim that arises before the expiration of the applicable survival period. Except as provided in the immediately preceding sentence, no indemnification claim in connection with a breach of a representation or warranty may be made under this Article 5 after the expiration of the applicable survival period specified in this Section 5.1.

5.2 Indemnity. Subject to the limitations and conditions in this **Article 5**:

- (a) From and after the Closing, Seller will indemnify Buyer and its Affiliates (including the Company after the Closing Date) and its and their respective officers, directors, members, managers, partners, employees, agents, stockholders, successors and permitted assigns (the "Buyer Indemnitees") from and against all Damages incurred in connection with, resulting from, relating to, or arising out of (i) the breach of any representation or warranty of Seller in Article 2 or in any certificate delivered by Seller pursuant hereto, (ii) the nonfulfillment of any covenant or agreement by or on the part of Seller set forth in this Agreement, (iii) Indebtedness or Transaction Expenses not otherwise paid in full at or prior to the Closing or otherwise included in the calculation of the Purchase Price, and (iv) any Pre-Closing Taxes.
- (b) From and after the Closing, Buyer shall indemnify Seller and its Affiliates and its and their respective officers, directors, members, managers, partners, employees, agents, stockholders, successors and permitted assigns (the "Seller Indemnitees") from and against all Damages incurred in connection with, resulting from, relating to, or arising out of (i) the breach of any representation or warranty of Buyer set forth in Article 3 or in any certificate delivered by Buyer pursuant hereto, or (ii) the nonfulfillment of any covenant or agreement by or on the part of Buyer set forth in this Agreement.

5.3 Limitations.

- (a) Buyer Indemnitees shall be entitled to indemnification under Section 5.2(a)(i) only when the aggregate amount of Damages for which Seller is responsible under such Section exceeds \$56,250 (and then only to the extent of such excess); provided, however, that the deductible in this Section 5.3(a) shall not apply to indemnification claims (i) for breaches of the Seller Specified Representations, or (ii) arising from fraud (an element of which is intent), willful or intentional misconduct or intentional misrepresentation.
- (b) Seller Indemnitees shall be entitled to indemnification under <u>Section 5.2(b)(i)</u> only when the aggregate amount of Damages for which Buyer is responsible under such Section exceeds \$56,250 (and then only to the extent of such excess); *provided*, *however*, that the limit on indemnification in this <u>Section 5.3(b)</u> shall not apply to indemnification claims (i) for breaches of Buyer Specified Representations or (ii) arising from fraud (an element of which is intent), willful or intentional misconduct or intentional misrepresentation.
- (c) Seller's aggregate Liability for indemnification claims under Section 5.2(a)(i) will be limited to \$1,125,000 (the "Seller's Aggregate Indemnification Cap"); provided, however, that the Seller's Aggregate Indemnification Cap shall not apply to indemnification claims against Seller (i) for breaches of the Seller Specified Representations or (ii) arising from fraud (an element of which is intent), willful or intentional misronduct or intentional misrepresentation. In the case of breaches of the Seller Specified Representations, Seller's aggregate Liability for indemnification claims under Section 5.2(a) (i), whether from a breach of the Seller Specified Representations or otherwise, will be limited to the Purchase Price.
- (d) Buyer's aggregate Liability for indemnification claims under Section 5.2(b)(i) will be limited to \$1,125,000; provided, however, that the limit on indemnification in this Section 5.3(d) shall not apply to indemnification claims (i) for breaches of Buyer Specified Representations or (ii) arising from fraud (an element of which is intent), willful or intentional misconduct or intentional misrepresentation. In the case of Buyer Specified Representations, Buyer's aggregate Liability for indemnification claims under Section 5.2(b)(i) will be limited to the Purchase Price.

(e) Computation of Claims.

(i) If an Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under more than one provision of this Agreement, then such party shall be entitled to only one indemnification or recovery of such claim to the extent it arises out of the same circumstances and events; it being understood that this sentence is solely to preclude a duplicate recovery by such Indemnitee (i.e., recovery in excess of actual claims). To the extent that the claims for which Buyer or its Affiliates may be entitled to be indemnified under this Article 5 are also compensated to Buyer under the Purchase Price adjustment process described in Section 1.6, then Buyer shall not also be entitled to a duplicate recovery by indemnification under this Article 5.

- (ii) Whenever an Indemnitor is required to indemnify and hold harmless an Indemnitee under this Article 5, the Indemnitor will, subject to the other limitations and provisions of this Article 5, pay the Indemnitee the amount of such indemnifiable claims reduced by the Net Proceeds of any insurance policy actually paid to the Indemnitee with respect to such claims (up to but not in excess of the amount of the applicable claim). For purposes of this Section 5.3(e), "Net Proceeds" shall mean the insurance proceeds actually received, less any deductibles, co-payments, related premium increases or other payment obligations (including reasonable attorneys' fees and other costs of collection) that relate to or arise from the making of the claim for indemnification. The Indemnitee shall use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue Net Proceeds that would reasonably be expected to reduce or eliminate or otherwise mitigate such claims. If any Indemnitee receives any Net Proceeds after an indemnification payment is made with respect to such claim, the Indemnitee shall promptly repay to the Indemnitor such amount of the indemnification payment as would not have been paid by the Indemnitor for the Net Proceeds reduced the original payment.
- (iii) Any indemnity payment to be made by Seller pursuant to this Agreement shall be reduced by any Tax Benefit actually realized on or prior to the date such payment is due, or that will be realized within the same Tax year such payment is due. For purposes of this Agreement, a "**Tax Benefit**" means the reduction of Tax liabilities (calculated on the basis of the actual reduction in cash payments for Taxes) resulting from an increase in deductions, losses or tax credits or decrease in the income, gain or recapture of tax credits as actually reported by the Buyer, in accordance with Legal Requirements in its reasonable discretion, in any taxable period (or portions thereof) subsequent to the Closing Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, if any such Tax Benefit is subsequently disallowed (each, a "**Disallowed Tax Benefit**"), Seller will pay to Buyer an amount equal to any such Disallowed Tax Benefit within fifteen (15) days of such disallowance.
- (iv) For the purpose of calculating Damages pursuant to this <u>Article 5</u> (but not, for the avoidance of doubt, of determining whether a breach of a representation or warranty has occurred), each of the representations and warranties (other than the representation and warranty contained in <u>Section 2.10(a)</u>) that contains any qualifications as to "materiality" or "Material Adverse Effect" shall be deemed to have been given as though there were no such qualifications and any such qualifications shall be disregarded.
- **5.4** <u>Indemnification Procedures.</u> All claims for indemnification by a party entitled to be indemnified under this <u>Article 5</u> (an "**Indemnitee**") by Seller or Buyer (each, an "**Indemnitor**"), will be asserted and resolved as follows:
- (a) If any claim or demand for which an Indemnitee may claim indemnity is asserted against or sought to be collected from an Indemnitee by a third party (a "**Third-Party Claim**"), the Indemnitee will notify the Indemnitor as promptly as practicable following the receipt by the Indemnitee of such Third-Party Claim, which notice must specify the nature of such Third-Party Claim and the amount, or the estimated amount, thereof to the extent then feasible (which estimate will not be conclusive of the final amount of such Third-Party Claim) (the "**Third-Party Claim Notice**"); *provided*, *however*, that the failure so to notify the Indemnitor will not relieve the Indemnitor from any Liability it may have to the Indemnitee under this <u>Article 5</u> unless, and only to the extent that, such failure to so notify results in the loss of material rights or defenses.
- (b) Subject to Section 5.4(c), an Indemnitor will have 30 days from the date on which the Third-Party Claim Notice is duly given (the "Notice Period") to notify in writing an Indemnitee whether or not the Indemnitor desires, at its sole cost and expense, to defend the Indemnitee against such Third-Party Claim; provided, however, that an Indemnitor may so assume control of such

defense only if it acknowledges in writing to the Indemnitee that any Damages that may be assessed against the Indemnitee in connection with such Third-Party Claim constitute Damages for which the Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification from the Indemnitor pursuant to this Article 5 (subject to the limitations set forth in this Article 5); provided further, that if in the course of defending such Third-Party Claim, the Indemnitor determines in good faith through discovery or other means that the claims made in such Third-Party Claim are not within the scope of and subject to indemnification hereunder, then the Indemnitor shall provide the Indemnitee with notice of such determination, at which time the Indemnitor shall no longer have the right to conduct the defense of such Third-Party Claim. If an Indemnitor does not assume the defense of a Third-Party Claim and it is determined that the Indemnitor is liable therefor, then the Indemnitor must pay the Indemnitee all Damages (subject to the limitations set forth in this Article 5) suffered by the Indemnitee as a result of such Third-Party Claim.

(c) If an Indemnitor so notifies an Indemnitee within the Notice Period that it desires to defend the Indemnitee against such Third-Party Claim, then (except as provided below) the Indemnitor will defend, at its sole cost and expense, the Indemnitee by appropriate proceedings, will conduct the defense in good faith and will control the conduct of such defense; provided, however, that the Indemnitor will not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnitee, consent to the entry of any judgment against the Indemnitee or enter into any settlement or compromise that (A) does not include, as an unconditional term thereof, the giving by each claimant or plaintiff to the Indemnitee of a release, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnitee, from all Liability or admission thereof or any responsibility in respect of such Third-Party Claim, (B) would impose any restriction on or otherwise interfere with the business, properties or operations, in each case of the Indemnitee and its Affiliates (including the Company after the Closing), (C) would result in the finding or admission of any violation of a Legal Requirement or (D) imposes Liability on the part of Indemnitee that will not be fully satisfied by the Indemnitor. Furthermore, the Indemnitor will not be entitled to assume the defense of any Third-Party Claim if the Third-Party Claim seeks any relief (i) other than money damages, including any type of injunctive or other equitable relief, (ii) involving criminal Liability, (iii) in excess of Seller's Aggregate Indemnification Cap, or (iv) involving Taxes, which shall be covered under Section 4.2(g). If the defendants named in any Third-Party Claim include both the Indemnitor and the Indemnitee, and the Indemnitee will have reasonably concluded that there are legal defenses or rights available to the Indemnitee that are in actual or potential conflict with those available to the Indemnitee will have the right to select one law firm to act at the Indemnitor's expense as separate counsel, on behal

(d) If the Indemnitee will have a claim against the Indemnitor hereunder that does not involve a Third-Party Claim but instead involves a claim among any of the parties hereto relating to or arising out of the transactions contemplated hereby (a "Non-Third-Party Claim" and, together with a Third-Party Claim, a "Claim"), the Indemnitee will send a notice (which notice will contain the information required for a Third-Party Claim Notice) with respect to such Non-Third-Party Claim to the Indemnitor as soon as practicable; provided, however, that the failure so to notify the Indemnitor will not relieve the Indemnitor from any Liability it may have to the Indemnitee under this Article 5 unless, and only to the extent that, such failure to so notify results in the loss of material rights or defenses. Within 30 days after delivery of such notice, the Indemnitor shall deliver to the Indemnitee a written response (the "Response") in which the Indemnitor shall either: (i) agree that the Indemnitee is entitled to receive all of the Damages claimed or (ii) dispute that the Indemnity Objection Notice of an Indemnity Objection Notice, during such 30-day period the Indemnitee shall allow the Indemnitor and its professional advisors to investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to give rise to the Non-Third-Party Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect of the Non-Third-Party Claim and the Indemnitee shall assist the

Indemnitor's investigation by giving such reasonable information and assistance (including access during normal business hours and upon reasonable prior notice to the Company's premises and personnel and the right to examine and copy any relevant accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnitor or any of its professional advisors may reasonably request, at the sole cost and expense of the Indemnitor. The Indemnitee will, if reasonable, consult with the Indemnitor and seek the Indemnitor's input regarding appropriate methods to resolve such Non-Third Party Claim; *provided*, *however*, that the failure to reasonably consult with Indemnitor will not relieve the Indemnitor from any Liability it may have to the Indemnitee under this <u>Article 5</u> unless, and only to the extent that, Indemnitor is actually damaged by such failure to reasonably consult. If no Response is delivered by the Indemnitor to the Indemnitee within such 30 day period, the Indemnitor shall be deemed to have agreed that an amount equal to the entire amount of the Damages claimed and such amount shall be payable to the Indemnitee and shall be promptly paid to the Indemnitee. In the event that the parties are unable to agree on whether Damages exist or on the amount of such Damages within the 30-day period after delivery of an Indemnity Objection Notice, such dispute shall be resolved in accordance with <u>Sections 6.7</u> and <u>6.13</u>.

5.5 Remedies. Each party acknowledges and agrees that its sole and exclusive remedy for money Damages following the Closing with respect to any and all claims (except for claims arising from fraud (an element of which is intent), willful or intentional conduct or intentional misrepresentation) arising out of or relating to this Agreement will be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this <u>Article 5</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this <u>Article 5</u> shall limit a Person's right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which any Person shall be entitled or to seek any remedy on account of any party's fraud, willful or intentional misrepresentation or breach.

5.6 Payment.

- (a) Payments of all amounts owing by an Indemnitee under this <u>Article 5</u> shall be made promptly upon (i) such amount becoming due and payable pursuant to <u>Section 5.4(d)</u>, (ii) a final settlement among the Indemnitor and the Indemnitee or (iii) a final adjudication determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with this <u>Article 5</u> that an indemnification obligation is owing by the Indemnitor to the Indemnitee (each, a "**Final Determination**").
- (b) Any claim not timely paid in accordance with <u>Section 5.6(a)</u> shall bear interest at the rate of five percent (5%) per annum from the date of the Final Determination, or, if less, the maximum rate permitted by applicable Legal Requirements, and the Indemnitor shall reimburse the Indemnitee for any and all reasonable costs or expenses of any nature or kind whatsoever (including reasonable legal fees and costs) incurred in seeking to collect such amount under this <u>Article 5</u>, and no limitation in this <u>Article 5</u> shall apply to any such interest or reimbursement.
- **5.7** <u>Purchase Price Adjustment</u>. Any indemnification received under this <u>Article 5</u> shall be treated by Buyer, Seller and their respective Affiliates, to the extent permitted by Legal Requirement, as an adjustment to the Purchase Price.

5.8 Set-Off Rights.

(a) Buyer may at any time, at its option, set off any amount to which Buyer has been determined to be entitled from Seller under this Article 5 pursuant to a Final Determination of a Claim, against any amount otherwise payable by Buyer to Seller under this Agreement or any Transaction Document. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated in this Article 5, Seller will not be obligated to directly indemnify Buyer in respect of a Claim unless and until Buyer has first exhausted its rights of set off against such Seller under this Section 5.8(a).

(b) If Buyer notifies Seller in writing that Buyer is asserting a Claim, which notice specifies the nature of such Claim, the amount of such Claim to the extent known, or, if the amount is not known, the estimated amount of such Claim determined in good faith by Buyer, and the basis for the calculation of such actual or estimated amount, then, until there has been a Final Determination of such Claim, there will be suspended Buyer's obligation to pay that portion of any amount otherwise payable by Buyer to Seller under this Agreement or any Transaction Document equal to the actual or estimated amount of such Claim as specified in such notice. Upon the Final Determination of such Claim, Buyer will promptly pay to Seller any portion of such suspended amount which, but for the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.8(b), would have been due and payable under this Agreement or any Transaction Document prior to the making of such Final Determination, except to the extent that either (1) Buyer is entitled and elects to exercise its right of set off under Section 5.8(a) with respect to that portion of such suspended amount, or (2) the obligation of Buyer to pay that portion of such suspended amount has been suspended under this Section 5.8(b) with respect to any other Claim as to which no Final Determination has yet been made. Any amounts that are withheld, but ultimately paid, by Buyer to Seller pursuant to the terms of this Section 5.8 shall bear interest at the rate of five percent (5%) per annum from the date such set-off rights are exercised, or, if less, the maximum rate permitted by applicable Legal Requirements. If Buyer does not promptly pay any amounts set off by Buyer pursuant to this Section 5.8 after the Claim relating to such set-off amount is resolved, Buyer shall reimburse Seller for any and all reasonable legal fees and costs incurred in seeking to collect such amount under this Section 5.8, and no limitation in this Article 5 shall apply to any such interest or reimbursement.

5.9 <u>Disclaimer</u>; <u>Certain Waivers</u>. THERE HAVE BEEN AND ARE NO REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES OR COVENANTS AMONG THE PARTIES OTHER THAN THOSE EXPRESSLY PROVIDED FOR IN THIS AGREEMENT (AS MODIFIED BY THE DISCLOSURE LETTER). BUYER HAS NOT RELIED ON THE COMPANY OR SELLER WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTER IN CONNECTION WITH BUYER'S EVALUATION OF THE COMPANY OTHER THAN THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES EXPRESSLY PROVIDED FOR IN THIS AGREEMENT (AS MODIFIED BY THE DISCLOSURE LETTER), AND ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY WAIVED.

ARTICLE 6 MISCELLANEOUS

- **6.1** <u>Amendment and Modification</u>. This Agreement may be amended, modified, or supplemented only by a written agreement executed by Buyer and Seller.
- **6.2** Waivers and Consents. Any failure of a party to comply with any obligation, covenant, agreement, or condition herein, to the extent legally allowed, may be waived, but only in a writing signed by the waiving party or parties. Any such waiver or failure to insist upon strict compliance with an obligation, covenant, agreement or condition will not operate as a waiver of, or estoppel with respect to, any subsequent or other failure. Whenever this Agreement requires or permits consent by or on behalf of any party hereto, the consent will be given in writing in a manner consistent with the requirements for a waiver of compliance as set forth in this Section 6.2.
- **6.3** <u>Press Releases and Public Announcements</u>. No party may issue any press release or make any public announcement relating to the subject matter hereof without the prior written approval of Buyer and Seller, which may not be unreasonably withheld; *provided*, *however*, that a party may make any public disclosure it believes in good faith is required by applicable Legal Requirements or any listing agreement concerning its publicly traded securities.

6.4 Notices. All notices, requests, demands, and other communications under this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given (a) on the date of service if served personally on the party to whom notice is to be given, (b) on the date sent by electronic mail (unless there is evidence of failure of delivery) or (c) one Business Day after delivery to a reputable overnight delivery service for next Business Day delivery. If the day on which a notice or other communication is deemed given under this Section 6.4 is not a Business Day, then such notice or other communication will instead be deemed given on the next Business Day. Such notices, requests, demands, and other communications, to be valid, will be addressed to the parties as follows:

(i) If to Seller:

Digi International Inc. 11001 Bren Road East Minnetonka, MN 55343 Attention: Dave Sampsell Email: Dave.Sampsell@digi.com

with a copy (which will not constitute notice) to:

Faegre Baker Daniels LLP 2200 Wells Fargo Center 90 South Seventh Street Minneapolis, MN 55402 Attention: Jonathan Nygren Email: jon.nygren@faegrebd.com

(ii) If to Buyer:

West Monroe Partners, LLC 222 W. Adams Street 11th Floor Chicago, IL 60606 Attention: Kimberly Lynch

Email: klynch@westmonroepartners.com

with a copy (which will not constitute notice) to:

Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP 525 W. Monroe, Suite 1900 Chicago, IL 60661

Attention: Kimberly T. Smith

Email: kimberly.smith@kattenlaw.com

A party may change the address to which such notices, requests, demands and other communications are to be given by giving each other party notice of such change in the manner prescribed by this <u>Section 6.4</u>.

6.5 <u>Assignment; Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement will be binding upon and will inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, but neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests, or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by any party without the prior written consent of all parties hereto (except that after the Closing Buyer may assign this Agreement or any of its respective right, interests, or obligations hereunder without consent to

one or more Affiliates of Buyer, in which event Buyer will not be released or discharged from its obligations hereunder, or to any acquirer of all or substantially all of the assets or capital stock of the Company). Any purported assignment, delegation or other transfer not permitted by this Section will be void. Except to the extent provided in Article 5 with respect to Affiliates of Buyer, the Company and Seller, this Agreement is not intended to confer upon any other person except the parties any rights or remedies hereunder.

6.6 Rules of Interpretation. As used in this Agreement:

- (a) "including" means "including without limitation";
- (b) "ordinary course of business" means "ordinary course of business consistent with past practices";
- (c) all dollar amounts are expressed in United States dollars;
- (d) unless expressly stated herein to the contrary, reference to any statute or other Legal Requirement means such statute or Legal Requirement as amended from time to time or as superseded by comparable successor statutory provisions or other comparable successor Legal Requirement;
- (e) unless expressly stated herein to the contrary, reference to any document means such document as amended or modified and as in effect from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof;
 - (f) words denoting the singular include the plural and vice versa and words denoting any gender include all genders;
- (g) the terms "hereof," "herein" and like terms refer to this Agreement as a whole and not only to the particular sentence, paragraph or Section in which such term appears;
 - (h) whenever the word "or" is used in this Agreement, it shall not be deemed exclusive;
- (i) unless expressly stated herein to the contrary, reference to a document including this Agreement, will be deemed to also refer to each annex, addendum, exhibit, schedule or other attachment thereto; and
- (j) unless expressly stated herein to the contrary, reference to an Article, Section, Schedule or Exhibit is to an article, section, schedule or exhibit, respectively, of this Agreement.
- **6.7** Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement and the relationship between the parties will be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to choice-of-law principles. The parties hereto agree that any Legal Proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby will be brought in the Delaware Court of Chancery in New Castle County, or in the event (but only in the event) that such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction over such action, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any Legal Proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such Legal Proceeding in any such court or that any such Legal Proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Process in any such Legal

Proceeding may be served on any party anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction of any such court. Without limiting the foregoing, each party agrees that service of process on such party as provided in <u>Section 6.4</u> will be deemed effective service of process on such party.

- **6.8 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL**. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
- **6.9** Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, and delivered by facsimile or other form of electronic communication, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.
- **6.10** <u>Headings; Internal References</u>. The Article and Section headings contained in this Agreement are solely for the purpose of reference, are not part of the agreement of the parties, and will not affect the interpretation hereof.
- **6.11** Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the Disclosure Letter and the exhibits and schedules hereto, embodies the entire agreement and understanding of the parties in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings among the parties with respect to that subject matter. There are no restrictions, promises, representations, warranties (express or implied), covenants or undertakings of the parties, other than those expressly set forth or referred to in this Agreement.
- **6.12** Severability. If any provision hereof is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions hereof will continue in full force and effect and will in no way be affected or invalidated, and such provision automatically will be amended so that it is valid, legal, and enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements, but as close to the parties' original intent as is permissible.
- **6.13** Equitable Remedies. The parties agree that money damages or other remedy at law may not be a sufficient or adequate remedy for any breach or violation of, or default under, this Agreement by them and that in addition to all other remedies available to them, each of them will be entitled, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to seek an injunction restraining such breach, violation, or default or threatened breach, violation, or default and to any other equitable relief, including specific performance, without bond or other security being required.
- **6.14** Expenses. All costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will be paid by the party or parties incurring such costs and expenses. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in the event of any Legal Proceeding in connection with this Agreement or any other document delivered pursuant hereto or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, the prevailing party in any such Suit shall be entitled to recover from the other party its costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable legal fees and expenses.
- **6.15** <u>Disclosure Letter</u>. The disclosure letter delivered by Seller to Buyer concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement (the "**Disclosure Letter**") has been arranged in a manner that corresponds to the Sections and subsections of this Agreement; provided that a disclosure made in any section of the Disclosure Letter that is sufficient to reasonably inform the recipient of information required to be disclosed in another section of the Disclosure Letter to avoid a misrepresentation under the related Section of this Agreement will be deemed to have been made under such other section of the

Disclosure Letter. The mere listing in the Disclosure Letter of a document or other item will not be deemed adequate to disclose an exception to a representation or warranty made in this Agreement (unless the representation or warranty has to do with the existence of the document or other item itself or the mere listing of the document or item in the Disclosure Letter otherwise reasonably informs Buyer of an exception to the representation or warranty).

6.16 <u>Further Assurances</u>. The parties hereto shall, at any time after the Closing, execute, acknowledge and deliver any further assignments, conveyances and other instruments of transfer reasonably requested by the other party or parties hereto, and will take, or cause to be taken, any other action consistent with the terms of this Agreement that may reasonably be requested by the other parties and as may be reasonably necessary to evidence or effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 7 CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

- 7.1 Certain Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:
- "Affiliate" means, as to any Person, a Person directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controlling, controlled by or under common control with, such Person, including any officer, director or executive employee of such Person. For these purposes, "controlling," "controlled by" or "under common control with" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise.
 - "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.
- "Books and Records" means all books, records, files and data, and other documents of the Company, including all sales and promotional literature and all pending customer proposals (including backup documentation and work papers) submitted to or by the Company.
- "Business Day" means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which banks in Chicago, Illinois, Dallas, Texas, or Minneapolis, Minnesota, are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed.
 - "Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.
 - "Buyer Specified Representations" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
 - "Cash" means the Company's aggregate cash or cash equivalents as determined in accordance with GAAP.
 - "Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(e).
 - "Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2.
 - "Closing Adjustment Amount" " has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(d).
 - "Closing Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).

- "Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2.
- "Closing Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3.
- "Closing Working Capital" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(e).
- "COBRA" means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985.
- "Code" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- "Company" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.
- "Company Employee Plans" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
- "Consents, Filings, and Notices" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(b).
- "Contract" means any oral or written agreement, commitment, arrangement, transaction, purchase order, understanding or obligation, together with all modifications or amendments thereto, that constitutes a contract under applicable law.
- "Damages" means all losses, debts, Liabilities, claims, demands, judgments, settlements, assessments, fines, interest, penalties, remedial actions, costs, expenses, fees (including reasonable attorneys' fees), Taxes and other damages, whether asserted by third parties or incurred or sustained in the absence of a Third-Party Claim; provided that (a) Damages shall only include exemplary damages, punitive damages and any losses or damages determined as a multiple of income, earnings, revenue or the like to the extent paid in connection with a Third-Party Claim and (b) consequential, special or indirect Damages shall only be included if such Damages are reasonably foreseeable in connection with the event that gave rise thereto or the matter for which indemnification is sought hereunder.
 - "Disclosure Letter" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.15.
 - "Disallowed Tax Benefit" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(e)(iii).
 - "Effective Time" means 12:01 am Central Time on the Closing Date.
 - "Employees" means the employees employed by the Company as of the Effective Time.
- "Environmental Claim" means any written notice alleging potential liability (including potential liability for investigatory cost, cleanup cost, governmental response cost, natural resources damage, property damage, personal injury or penalty) arising out of, relating to or resulting from, directly or indirectly, (a) the presence, or release into the environment, of any material, including Hazardous Substances, or form of energy at any location, whether or not owned by the Company and (b) any violation, or alleged violation, of any Environmental Law.
- "Environmental Law" means any applicable federal, state, local law, common law or other Legal Requirement relating to pollution or protection of the environment or human health, including any law relating to any emission, discharge, release or possible release of any Hazardous Substance into air, surface water, groundwater or land, or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of any Hazardous Substance.
 - "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"ERISA Affiliate" means (i) any trade or business with which the Company is under common control within the meaning of section 4001(b) of ERISA, (ii) any corporation with which the Company is a member of a controlled group of corporations within the meaning of section 414(b) of the Code, (iii) any entity with which the Company is under common control within the meaning of section 414(c) of the Code, (iv) any entity with which the Company is a member of an affiliated service group within the meaning of section 414(m) of the Code and (v) any entity with which the Company is aggregated under section 414(o) of the Code.

"Estimated Cash" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).

"Estimated Indebtedness" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).

"Estimated Transaction Expenses" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).

"Estimated Working Capital" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).

"Exploit" or "Exploitation" means to design, develop, use, reproduce, modify, display, market, import, make, have made, perform, publish, transmit, broadcast, sell, offer to sell, distribute, create improvements or derivative works based upon, or otherwise dispose of, commercialize and exploit, or authorize any third party to do any of the foregoing.

"Final Adjustment Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(h).

"Final Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(a).

"Final Working Capital" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(f).

"Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(b).

"GAAP" means generally accepted United States accounting principles consistently applied.

"Governmental Entity" means any foreign, national, provincial, state, municipal or other governmental office, court, official, commission (including the SEC), department (including the United States Department of Labor), board, bureau, tribunal, agency, authority, other instrumentality or any entity exercising executive, legislative, taxing, judicial, regulatory or administration functions of or pertaining to government or any self-regulatory organization, including any stock exchange.

"Hazardous Substance" means any (a) petroleum, petroleum products, by-products or breakdown products, radioactive materials, friable asbestos or polychlorinated biphenyls, and (b) pollutant, contaminant, hazardous substance, hazardous waste or any other chemical, waste, substance or material listed in or regulated by or identified in any Environmental Law.

"Income Tax" means any Tax (other than sales, use, stamp, duty, value-added, business, goods and services, property, transfer, recording, documentary, conveyancing or similar Tax) based upon or measured by gross or net receipts of gross or net income (including any Tax in the nature of minimum taxes, tax preference items and alternative minimum taxes) and including any Liability arising pursuant to the application of Treasury Regulations section 1.1502-6 or any similar provision of any applicable Legal Requirement regarding any Tax.

"Indebtedness" means with respect to the Company, (a) the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of (i) indebtedness for borrowed money; and (ii) any notes, debentures, bonds, letters of credit or

other similar instruments or debt securities for the payment of which the Company is responsible or liable; (b) all obligations issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of assets, properties or services (but excluding trade accounts payable and accrued expenses arising in the ordinary course of business) including earn-outs, payments under non-compete agreements and seller notes; (c) all obligations under capital leases; (d) any Liability that would be required to be reflected as indebtedness for borrowed money on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of the relevant date; (e) all obligations created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement; (f) all obligations relating to indebtedness for borrowed money secured by a Lien; (g) all obligations of any Person which are directly or indirectly guaranteed by the Company; (h) all obligations in respect of drawn bankers' acceptances or letters of credit, and (i) all accrued interest, prepayment premiums, penalties, fees and other amounts related to any item listed in clauses (a) through (h) above.

"Indemnitee" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Indemnitor" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Intellectual Property" means all trademarks and service marks (including applications, registrations, extensions and renewals therefor and rights in unregistered/common law marks) and patents (including applications, reissues, divisions, renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part for all of the foregoing), trade names, trade dress, logos, Internet domain names, copyrights and other works of authorship (including applications, registrations, renewals and extensions therefor), trade secrets, know-how (including inventions, procedures, designs and processes not patented, computer programs, formulae, databases and data) and all other proprietary and intellectual property rights arising anywhere in the world.

"Knowledge of the Company" and "Company's Knowledge" means the actual knowledge of Steve Snyder, Dave Sampsell, Will Wu, Eric Baird, Tarun Patel, Chuck Malone, Ray Goff, Tracy Roberts and Andy Gaeckle, and what any of such individuals should have known after a reasonable investigation.

"Knowledge of Buyer" means the actual knowledge of any individual who is serving as a director or executive officer of Buyer, and what any such individual should have known after a reasonable investigation.

"Leased Real Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.19(b).

"Legal Proceeding" means any claim, complaint, action, inquiry, litigation, investigation, arbitration, mediation, order, sanction, petition, plea, charge, demand, administrative charge or administrative or other proceeding by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Entity or arbitrator.

"Legal Requirement" means any federal, national, provincial, state, municipal or local constitution, law, statute, code, administrative interpretation, ordinance, rule, regulation or other requirement, enacted, promulgated, entered into, agreed, imposed or enforced by or of any Governmental Entity, arbitrator or self-regulatory organization.

"Liability" means any liability, debt, commitment or obligation of any kind or nature (whether known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, or due or to become due).

"License Agreement" means that certain License Agreement entered into at the Closing by and between Buyer, Seller and the Company.

"Lien" means any lien, pledge, mortgage, claim, easement, restriction (other than any restriction on transferability imposed by securities laws applicable to unregistered securities generally), limitation, charge, encumbrance, security interest, option or other right of any third party.

"Material Adverse Effect" means any change, event, circumstance, condition or effect that is materially adverse to (a) Seller's ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (b) the financial condition, business or results of operations of the Company, except, solely for purposes of this clause (b), to the extent that any such change, event, circumstance, condition or effect results from: (i) changes in general economic conditions, or conditions in the Company's industry generally, to the extent such changes to do not materially disproportionately affect the Company as compared to other participants in the Company's industry; (ii) changes in applicable Legal Requirements or accounting principles applicable to the Company, or the enforcement, implementation or interpretation thereof, to the extent such changes do not materially disproportionately affect the Company as compared to other participants in the Company's industry; (iii) any changes in financial, banking or securities markets in general, including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index or any change in prevailing interest rates; (iv) weather conditions, natural disasters, epidemics, pandemics, acts of God, acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism, or the escalation or worsening thereof; (v) any action required or permitted by this Agreement or any action taken (or omitted to be taken) with the consent of or at the request of Buyer; (vi) the announcement, pendency or completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the identity of Buyer), including losses or threatened losses of employees or customers of the Company; (vii) any failure by the Company to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (subject to the other provisions of this definition) may be taken into consideration in determining whether there has been or will be a

"Material Contracts" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(a).

"Material Customers" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.23.

"Material Permits" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(b).

"Material Suppliers" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.23.

"Most Recent Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(b).

"Most Recent Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(b).

"Net Proceeds" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(e)(ii).

"Non-Third-Party Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(d).

"Notice Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(b).

"**Objection Notice**" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 1.6(f)</u>.

"**Open Source Software**" means any software that contains or is derived in any manner (in whole or in part) from any software, code or libraries that are distributed as free software or as open source software or under any licensing or distribution models similar to open source, including but not

limited to any software licensed under or subject to terms that require source code to be provided or made available to subsequent licensees or sublicensees (regardless of whether the license restricts source code from being distributed in modified form) or which may impose any other obligation or restriction with respect to a Party's Intellectual Property, including, without limitation, any software licensed under or subject to the Artistic License, the Mozilla Public License, the GNU GPL, the LGPL, any other license that is defined as an Open Source License by the Open Source Initiative (each an "Open Source License"), and any similar license or distribution model. Subsequent licensees or sublicensees of any software include any Person that receives any copies of or rights with respect to such software.

"Order" means any order, judgment, writ, injunction, determination, award or decree of or from any Governmental Entity or arbitrator.

"Organizational Documents" means the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Company.

"**Permit**" means any license, permit, registration, identification number, exemption, waiver or similar authorization from a Governmental Entity issued or required by or under applicable Legal Requirements.

"Permitted Liens" means (a) Liens for Liabilities disclosed on the Most Recent Financial Statements, (b) Liens for Taxes, assessments, and other governmental charges not yet due and payable, (c) inchoate mechanics', workmen's, repairmen's, warehousemen's, carriers' or other similar Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice and securing amounts not yet delinquent, (d) with respect to equipment or other assets shown on the Most Recent Financial Statements to be leased or licensed, leases or licenses with third parties, and (e) Liens that will be released in full as of or prior to Closing without any continuing Liability to Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including the Company after the Closing).

"Person" means any individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, association, joint stock company, trust, joint venture, unincorporated organization or any other entity or association or any Governmental Entity.

"**Pre-Closing Compensation**" means any Liability of the Company for payments to, or with respect to, its employees and independent contractors pursuant to a Company Employee Plan or otherwise for any periods or portions of any periods ending on or prior to the Closing (including bonus, deferred compensation or similar compensation, 401(k) plan matching obligations, obligations with respect to self-insured or other insurance plans and accrued paid time off) and all Taxes payable by the Company in connection with or as a result of the payment of such amounts.

"Pre-Closing Return" is defined in Section 4.2(b)

"**Pre-Closing Tax Period**" means (a) any Tax period ending on or before the Closing Date and (b) with respect to a Straddle Period, any portion thereof ending on, and including, the Closing Date.

"Pre-Closing Taxes" is defined in Section 4.2(a).

"Previous Accounts" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(a).

"Proprietary Software" means computer software (whether general or special purpose) that is used or relied on by the Company for its operations and that the Company (either directly or through a third party) has developed. For the purpose of clarity, "off the shelf" computer software does not constitute Proprietary Software.

- "Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3.
- "Real Property Leases" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.19(b).
- "**Referee**" means one of the "big four" accounting firms to be selected jointly by Seller and Buyer or, if Seller and Buyer are unable to mutually agree within a five-day period, such accounting firm will be Grant Thornton (so long as neither party has, at the time of the dispute giving rise to the need for a Referee, any significant business relationship with such firm).
- "Restricted Business" shall mean any business (i) that is the same as, similar to or in direct competition with any portion of the business of the Company as currently conducted, including the implementation, configuration and customization of salesforce.com enterprise applications, or (ii) that is engaged in the activities of consulting with businesses on the implementation, configuration and customization of enterprise applications that are directly competitive with the enterprise applications of salesforce.com.
 - "Restricted Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).
 - "SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
 - "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933.
 - "Seller" has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.
 - "Seller Specified Representations" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
 - "Seller's Aggregate Indemnification Cap" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(c).
 - "Shares" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.
 - "Straddle Period" means any complete Tax period that includes but does not end on the Closing Date.
- "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person 50% or more of the voting stock (or any other form of voting or controlling equity interest in the case of a Person that is not a corporation) of which is beneficially owned by such first Person directly or indirectly through one or more other Persons.

"Taxe" means any (i) U.S. federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under section 59A of the Code), customs duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, fine, penalty or similar addition thereto, whether disputed or not, withholding or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalties or additions to tax in respect of the foregoing; (ii) Liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) above arising as a result of being (or ceasing to be) a member of any affiliated group (or being included (or required to be included) in any Tax Return relating thereto); and (iii)

Liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) of another Person as a result of any transferee or secondary Liability or any Liability assumed by contract, agreement, Legal Requirement, or otherwise.

"Tax Benefit" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(e)(iii).

"Tax Claim" means any claim by a Governmental Entity with respect to any Tax that, if successful, might result in an indemnity obligation hereunder.

"Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, filing, claim for refund or information return or statement or other documents (including Treasury Form TD F 90-22.1 and FinCEN Form 114) relating to any Tax or filed or required to be filed, or maintained or required to be maintained, in connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto and including any amendment thereof.

"Third-Party Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(a).

"Third-Party Claim Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(a).

"Transaction Documents" means any agreement, document, certificate or instrument delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

"Transaction Expenses" means all (i) unpaid fees, costs, expenses, payments, Liabilities and expenditures incurred by or on behalf of the Company at or prior to the Effective Time or that are otherwise subject to reimbursement by the Company as a result of or in connection with the negotiation, documentation or consummation of the transactions contemplated under this Agreement, including any fees, costs or expenses paid or payable to the Company's outside legal counsel or to any financial advisor, accountant, consultant, broker or other representative, (ii) bonuses or other payments (regardless of form), paid or payable by the Company to its officers, directors, employees, consultants or any third party as a result of or in connection with the negotiation, documentation or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (but not any Pre-Closing Compensation), including all Taxes that are payable by the Company in connection with or as a result of such obligations, and (iii) the Pre-Closing Compensation.

"Transfer Tax" means any sales, use, value-added, business, goods and services, transfer (including any stamp duty or other similar tax chargeable in respect of any instrument transferring property), documentary, conveyancing or similar tax or expense or any recording fee, in each case that is imposed as a result of any transaction contemplated herein, together with any penalty, interest and addition to any such item with respect to such item.

"**Transition Services Agreement**" means the transition services agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit A entered into at the Closing by and among Buyer, Seller and the Company.

"United States" or "U.S." means the United States of America.

"Welfare Plan" means any employee welfare benefit plan as defined in section 3 of ERISA.

"Working Capital" means (i) the current assets of the Company minus (ii) the current liabilities of the Company, in each case, as determined in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, Working Capital shall not be deemed to include any assets or liabilities related to Taxes, Cash, Indebtedness or Transaction Expenses.

"Working Capital Target" means \$1,506,657.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

SELLER:

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC.

By: /s/ Ronald E. Konezny
Name: Ronald E. Konezny

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

BUYER:

WEST MONROE PARTNERS, LLC

By: /s/ Kevin J. McCarty
Name: Kevin J. McCarty

Title: Chief Executive Officer

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

On October 23, 2015, Digi International (the Company), completed the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary, Etherios, Inc., to West Monroe Partners, LLC on the terms described in the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 26, 2015.

The Company sold Etherios for \$9.0 million. This is composed of (1) a payment equal to \$4.0 million due at closing less certain transaction costs of approximately \$1.1 million withheld for certain employee related liabilities, and (2) additional payments of \$3.0 million due on the first anniversary of closing and \$2.0 million due on the second anniversary of the closing.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information shown below is based on historical consolidated financial statements of the Company and shows the effect to the disposition of Etherios to be accounted for as a discontinued operation. The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2015 presents the Company's historical consolidated statement of financial position, giving effect to the disposition as if it had been completed on June 30, 2015. The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended June 30, 2015 and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 present the Company's historical consolidated statements of operations, giving effect to the disposition as if it had been completed on October 1, 2012, the beginning of the earliest period presented. The fiscal year ended September 30, 2012 has not been included in the financial information shown below as Etherios was acquired by the Company on October 31, 2012.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements include factually supportable assumptions and adjustments that are directly related to the disposition. These pro forma adjustments have been made to illustrate the anticipated financial effect of the disposition on the Company. The adjustments are based upon available information and assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable as of the date of this filing. However, actual adjustments may differ materially from the information presented. Assumptions underlying the pro forma adjustments are described in the accompanying notes, which should be read in conjunction with the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements, including notes thereto, should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and notes thereto of the Company included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2014.

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET As of June 30, 2015

(in thousands)	As Reported	Etherios Adjustment (A)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Consolidated
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 53,755	\$ —	\$ 2,866 (B)	\$ 56,621
Marketable securities	37,527			37,527
Accounts receivable, net	24,415	(1,639)		22,776
Inventories	34,690			34,690
Deferred tax assets	3,072		(105) (C)	2,967
Other	2,912	(86)	680 (C)	3,506
Total current assets	156,371	(1,725)	3,441	158,087
Marketable securities, long-term	9,471			9,471
Property, equipment and improvements, net	14,628	(113)		14,515
Identifiable intangible assets, net	4,789	(1,652)		3,137
Goodwill	102,497	(2,153)		100,344
Deferred tax assets	5,708			5,708
Other	293		4,864 (B)	5,157
Total assets	\$293,757	\$ (5,643)	\$ 8,305	\$ 296,419
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable	\$ 7,048	\$ (85)	_	\$ 6,963
Accrued compensation	10,464	(1,331)	_	9,133
Other	3,372	(96)	1,842 (C)	5,118
Total current liabilities	20,884	(1,512)	1,842	21,214
Income taxes payable	1,401			1,401
Deferred tax liabilities	151	(645)		(494)
Other noncurrent liabilities	678	(96)		582
Total liabilities	23,114	(2,253)	1,842	22,703
Stockholders' equity	270,643	(3,390)	2,271 (B)	273,716
	-,	(-,)	575 (C)	-,
			3,617 (D)	
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$293,757	\$ (5,643)	\$ 8,305	\$ 296,419

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS For the Nine Months Ended June 30, 2015

(in thousands, except per share data)	As Reported	Etherios Adjustment (A)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Consolidated
Revenue:	 _			
Hardware product	\$143,042	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 143,042
Service revenue	13,370	(6,738)	_	6,632
Total revenue	156,412	(6,738)		149,674
Cost of sales:				
Cost of product	74,339	_	_	74,339
Cost of service	10,724	(6,205)	_	4,519
Total cost of sales	85,063	(6,205)		78,858
Gross profit	71,349	(533)	_	70,816
Operating expenses:				
Sales and marketing	30,525	(1,433)	_	29,092
Research and development	23,715	(1,567)	_	22,148
General and administrative	14,448	(850)	_	13,598
Restructuring charges, net	509	(106)		403
Total operating expenses	69,197	(3,956)		65,241
Operating income	2,152	3,423	_	5,575
Other income, net:				
Interest income	137	_	_	137
Interest expense	(3)	_	—	(3)
Other income, net	2,131			2,131
Total other income, net	2,265	_	_	2,265
Income before income taxes	4,417	3,423		7,840
Income tax provision	814	1,261	_	2,075
Net income from continuing operations	\$ 3,603	\$ 2,162	<u> </u>	\$ 5,765
Earnings per share from continuing operations:				
Basic	\$ 0.15			\$ 0.24
Diluted	\$ 0.14			\$ 0.23
Weighted average common shares:				
Basic	24,525			24,525
Diluted	25,085			25,085

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2014

(in thousands, except per share data)	As Reported	Etherios Adjustment (A)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Consolidated
Revenue:				
Hardware product	\$172,846	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 172,846
Service revenue	19,855	(9,528)	_	10,327
Total revenue	192,701	(9,528)		183,173
Cost of sales:				
Cost of product	85,737	_	_	85,737
Cost of service	16,480	(9,421)	_	7,059
Total cost of sales	102,217	(9,421)		92,796
Gross profit	90,484	(107)		90,377
Operating expenses:				
Sales and marketing	40,576	(1,825)	_	38,751
Research and development	29,789	(877)	_	28,912
General and administrative	19,913	(1,669)	_	18,244
Restructuring charges, net	81			81
Total operating expenses	90,359	(4,371)		85,988
Operating income	125	4,264	_	4,389
Other income, net:				
Interest income	176		_	176
Interest expense	(5)	_	—	(5)
Other income, net	501			501
Total other income, net	672	_	_	672
Income before income taxes	797	4,264		5,061
Income tax provision	(954)	1,522	_	568
Net income from continuing operations	\$ 1,751	\$ 2,742	<u> </u>	\$ 4,493
Earnings per share from continuing operations:				
Basic	\$ 0.07			\$ 0.18
Diluted	\$ 0.07			\$ 0.17
Weighted average common shares:				
Basic	25,345			25,345
Diluted	25,730			25,730

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2013

(in thousands, except per share data)	As Reported	Etherios Adjustment (A)	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Consolidated
Revenue:				
Hardware product	\$173,078	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 173,078
Service revenue	22,303	(10,961)	_	11,342
Total revenue	195,381	(10,961)		184,420
Cost of sales:				
Cost of product	82,276	_	_	82,276
Cost of service	12,982	(6,163)	_	6,819
Total cost of sales	95,258	(6,163)		89,095
Gross profit	100,123	(4,798)		95,325
Operating expenses:				
Sales and marketing	40,513	(1,284)	_	39,229
Research and development	30,327	(1,245)	_	29,082
General and administrative	21,423	(2,006)	_	19,417
Restructuring charges, net	313	_	_	313
Total operating expenses	92,576	(4,535)		88,041
Operating income	7,547	(263)	_	7,284
Other income, net:				
Interest income	210	_	_	210
Interest expense	(42)	4	_	(38)
Other income, net	523			523
Total other income, net	691	4	_	695
Income before income taxes	8,238	(259)		7,979
Income tax provision	2,433	(103)	_	2,330
Net income from continuing operations	\$ 5,805	\$ (156)	\$ —	\$ 5,649
Earnings per share from continuing operations:				
Basic	\$ 0.22			\$ 0.22
Diluted	\$ 0.22			\$ 0.22
Weighted average common shares:				
Basic	25,956			25,956
Diluted	26,237			26,237

DIGI INTERNATIONAL INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION As of June 30, 2015 and for the Nine Months Ended June 30, 2015

of June 30, 2015 and for the Nine Months Ended June 30, 2015 and the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Pro Forma Adjustments to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2015

- (A) To eliminate the assets and liabilities sold in the disposition of the Etherios business.
- (B) To record the estimated fair value of the consideration received of \$7.8 million. The \$7.8 million is comprised of cash proceeds of \$2.9 million (\$4.0 million of initial selling price less \$1.1 million withheld for certain employee related liabilities) and \$4.9 million of payments due to the Company during the next two years. The remaining \$4.9 million is the discounted value of the \$3.0 million due on the first anniversary of closing and the additional \$2.0 million due on the second anniversary of closing.
- (C) To record additional expenses of \$1.8 million related to facility costs, professional service fees, severance and other employee costs that are directly attributed to the disposition of Etherios and related income tax benefit.
- (D) To record the estimated gain of \$5.4 million on disposition, less additional expenses of \$1.8 million incurred as described in Note C above. The estimated gain and the additional expenses have not been reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations as they are considered to be nonrecurring in nature.

Pro Forma Adjustments to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Nine Months Ended June 30, 2015 and the Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

(A) To eliminate the revenues and direct expenses of Etherios, including the estimated income tax effect of the pro forma adjustments.